Exeter City Council

A meeting of EXETER CITY COUNCIL will be held at the GUILDHALL, HIGH STREET, EXETER on
TUESDAY 25 NOVEMBER 2025, at 6.00 pm, at which you are hereby summoned to attend.

If you have an enquiry regarding any items on this agenda, please contact Mark Devin, Democratic
Services Officer on 01392 265477 .

The following business is proposed to be transacted:-

1 Declarations of Interest

Councillors are reminded of the need to declare any disclosable pecuniary
interests that relate to business on the agenda and which have not already been
included in the register of interests, before any discussion takes place on the
item. Unless the interest is sensitive, you must also disclose the nature of the
interest. In accordance with the Council's Code of Conduct, you must then leave
the room and must not participate in any further discussion of the item.
Councillors requiring clarification should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer
prior to the day of the meeting

2 Local Government Act 1972 - Exclusion of the Press and Public

It is considered that the Committee would be unlikely to exclude the press and
public during consideration of any of the items on the agenda, but if it should wish
to do so, the following resolution should be passed:-

RECOMMENDED that, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act
1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the consideration of
the particular item(s) on the grounds that it (they) involve(s) the likely disclosure
of exempt information as defined in the relevant paragraphs of Part 1, Schedule

12A of the Act.
Pages
3 Local Government Reorganisation: Draft Submission-Putting People First in
Exeter and Devon
To consider the report of the Chief Executive. 3-350
Date: Monday 17 November 2025
Bindu Arjoon

Chief Executive



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 3

REPORT TO COUNCIL
Date of Meeting: 25 November 2025

Report of: Chief Executive

Title: Local Government Reorganisation: Draft Submission-Putting People First in Exeter
and Devon

Is this a Key Decision?
No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?

Council

1. Whatis the report about?

1.1 This report sets out Exeter City Council’s draft final submission to the Ministry of
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) for Local Government
Reorganisation (LGR) in Devon.

1.2 The proposal responds to the Government'’s invitation for submissions by 28
November 2025 and demonstrates compliance with Government’s criteria and the
council’s own principles. This report outlines resource implications, legal requirements,
proposed geography, stakeholder engagement, and a timetable for implementation, with
new councils expected to operate from 1 April 2028.

1.3 The council’s draft final submission to MHCLG for Local Government Reorganisation
for Devon can be found in Appendix A.

2. Recommendations:

2.1 That Council endorses the Draft Final Proposal for Local Government Reorganisation
(Appendix A) in Devon prior to consideration by Executive on 26 November 2025.

3. Reasons for the recommendation:

3.1 In his letter of 5th February 2025, the then Minister of State for Local Government and
English Devolution invited Leaders of two-tier councils and unitary councils in Devon to
submit proposals for a single tier of local government. The Government asked for full
proposals to be submitted by 28th November 2025.

4. What are the resource implications including non-financial resources:

4.1 Following the submission of the final proposal, work will need to continue to prepare
the groundwork for the final model that is agreed by the Government. Guidance from the
District Councils Network and learning from other unitary councils recommends that
preparatory work starts in a timely way in relation to the following:

e Democracy and governance: Developing the constitutions, establishing the
leadership to steward the new organisations and running the elections for new

For enquiries please contact: democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

Page 3


mailto:democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

councillors who will govern the new unitary councils. This also includes setting up
shadow council arrangements as part of the transition.

e Service design: Developing the detailed future operating models that lay out how
each service within each new authority will work.

o Budgets and finance: Apportioning the existing budgets to each new unitary in a fair
and transparent way, as well as dealing with other key financial policies such as
council tax harmonisation.

o Workforce and organisational change: Supporting the existing officer workforce
with the changes and staff transfer to the new organisations. This will also entail
other workforce considerations such as union engagement, staff consultation,
redeployment issues, and culture and practice changes.

o Data and technology: Ensuring that all data we hold is accurate and complete,
before it is safely transferred to the correct unitary. Managing the systems which hold
this data and support service delivery falls within this element.

¢ Procurement and contracts: Identifying which contracts are novated to each
unitary. This may involve contract variations and negotiations with suppliers, as well
as preparation for decommissioning and re-procurement.

e Partnerships: Ensuring that the strong working relationships with partner
organisations are maintained, as well as setting up new arrangements that align with
both unitary aspirations and regional goals.

o External delivery bodies: Councils have set up a variety of delivery vehicles (arm’s
length companies and joint ventures) to support strategic objectives. We will need to
work through decisions around the future of these vehicles and ownership of them.

4.2 A clearer picture of the resources required to deliver the work will emerge when the
detailed Transition and Implementation Plans are developed.

4.3 As work progresses to transition to a new council, it will be important that business as
usual is maintained. Members are asked to note that where there is an impact on existing
work and priorities, these will be identified by the Strategic Management Board, with
proposed mitigation.

Section 151 Officer comments:

5.1 The modified proposal provides for four Councils which, with independent review,
have sufficient scale to be financially resilient. Modelling undertaken in conjunction with
Plymouth and Torbay demonstrate that all Councils are also financially viable based on
existing funding projections. This allows the Councils to have a strong platform for
managing Transition Costs and to deliver service transformation going forward.

5.2 Having agreed the assumptions and methodology in the financial model, with the two
Unitary Councils in Devon, | am satisfied that the assumptions are reasonable and
logical, and the financial model is sound. The detailed assumptions have been set out in
an appendix to the proposal to ensure transparency and clarity on how the figures have
been derived.

What are the legal aspects?

6.1 The statutory provisions for the creation of unitary authorities are set out in the Local
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 which provides for the Secretary

For enquiries please contact: democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

Page 4


mailto:democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

of State to invite or allow county or district authorities to submit proposals for
restructuring into unitary authorities. Reorganisation can involve the reorganisation of a
county council, a district council or a group of district councils into one or more unitary
authorities. The process involves consultation with affected parties and may also include
taking advice from the Local Government Boundary Commission for England in
appropriate cases. Any restructuring order must be approved by both Houses of
Parliament.

6.2 The Local Government & Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 provides the
statutory framework for developing proposals for the reorganisation of local government.
In accordance with section 2 of the Act, the Secretary of State for the Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) invited local authorities in Devon to
submit proposals for unitary authorities within Devon.

6.3 In addition to the statutory provisions set out in the 2007 Act, the guidance
issued by MHCLG states:

o Existing district areas should be considered the building blocks for your proposals,
but where there is strong justification more complex boundary changes will be
considered;

e There will need to be a strong public services and financial sustainability related
justification for any proposals that involve boundary changes, or that affect wider
public services, such as fire and rescue authorities, due to the likely additional costs
and complexities of implementation.

MHCLG has confirmed that:

Submissions must be a single, clear proposal with base case based on existing
boundaries and modifications justified. Examples on when councils may wish to consider
a proposal with modified boundaries include where existing boundaries would not meet
the criteria or changes to boundaries would better meet the criteria.

6.4 The council also obtained independent legal advice.

6.5 Members will note that Exeter City Council is proposing a base case with
modifications to the existing boundaries for Plymouth, Torbay and Exeter as well as
proposing the creation of an additional unitary Coast and Countryside authority.

6.6 The Council’s proposal for local government reorganisation in Devon complies with
the statutory provisions and guidance in setting out a base case in accordance with
section 2 of the Act with a proposal for modified boundaries which would deliver long-term
benefits and would better meet the requirements for strong public services and financial
sustainability.

6.7 In accordance with the provisions of section 7 of the Act, the Secretary of State may
implement the proposals or implement alternative proposals put forward by the Local
Government Boundary Commission ‘...with or without modification’ or ‘decide to take no
action’.

For enquiries please contact: democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

Page 5


mailto:democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

6.8 Section 11 of the Act provides for the implementation of changes within an
implementation order which can include, amongst other provisions, changes in
boundaries of local government areas.

7. Monitoring Officer’s comments:

7.1 In his letter dated 5 February 2025, the Minister of State for Local Government and
English Devolution formally invited proposals for LGR based on the single tier unitary
model to replace the existing County and District model.

7.2 Members unanimously approved the submission of interim proposals for LGR at the
meeting of Extraordinary Council on 20 March 2025. The government responded to the
interim proposals of Exeter City Council and other Devon authorities on 15 May 2025.

7.3 Authority is now sought from Members to proceed in accordance with the
recommendations at paragraph 2 of this report. If approved, Members will note that the
draft final proposal will be submitted for approval by Executive prior to submission to
Government by the deadline of 28th November 2025.

8. Equality Act 2010 (The Act)

8.1 In recommending this proposal potential impact has been identified on people with
protected characteristics as determined by the Act and an Equality Impact Assessment
has been included in the background papers for Member’s attention.

An EQIA has been completed and can be found at Appendix B.

9. Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:

9.1 The proposed unitary authorities would facilitate additional integrated and impactful
decarbonisation, climate, adaptation and nature strategies and plans. The establishment
of an integrated climate and nature approach would result in enhanced coordinated and
efficient decarbonisation, climate and nature action across the new geographies with
greater efficiencies and impacts including across:

e travel, highways (greater connection between where people live, study, work and
visit, ensuring active and sustainable travel options) and land-use (with increased
opportunities around Biodiversity Net Gain, Habitat Banks, nature and biodiversity
programmes such as tree planting, habitat restoration and nature-based solutions);

e community engagement and resilience;

¢ high quality and sustainable public services (for example, through the development of
district heat networks and renewable energy solutions);

¢ and environmentally sustainable growth plans (including green skills and retrofit
programmes for young people, military leavers and ex-offenders).

10. Report details:

Background:

10.1 Following the publication of the Devolution White Paper in December 2024, the
Council agreed on 9th January 2025 to send a letter of intent to Government expressing

For enquiries please contact: democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

Page 6


mailto:democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

its intention to submit plans for a new council that will include the city of Exeter within the
context of a Strategic Mayoral Authority.

10.2 The letter set out why the council considered that a unitary Devon council would not
be in the best interests of the residents of Exeter nor the wider area. It went on to explain
that the needs and priorities of an urban area like Exeter are likely to be lost amongst the
range of issues facing the largely rural county of Devon which could potentially lead to a
reduction in Exeter’s ability to continue to drive growth for Exeter and Devon.

10.3 In response to an invitation from Government, the council submitted an interim
submission for Local Government Reorganisation at the end of March 2025. The interim
submission set out the council’s intention to develop a full business case for a unitary
authority that would include the city of Exeter and the surrounding area, engaging
proactively with stakeholders and communities to ensure their voices were heard and
their priorities understood.

10.4 The interim submission did not include a proposed geography for reorganisation as
the council did not have sufficient time to engage with other Devon councils and gather
data on current service provision models and costs across Devon. It was also hoped that
there could be an agreed position amongst the county to reduce the number of final
submissions to government from Devon councils.

10.5 This report sets out the work that has been undertaken to develop the council’s draft
final proposal for local government reorganisation.

Final Proposal Criteria

10.6 The invitation from Government sets out the following criteria in relation to unitary
local government:

Single tier of local government for the area.

Right size to achieve efficiencies, improve capacity & withstand financial shocks.
Prioritise the delivery of high quality & sustainable public services to citizens.

Councils in the area have sought to work together in coming to a view that meets local
needs & is informed by local views.

Must support devolution.

Enable stronger community to engagement & deliver genuine opportunity for
neighbourhood empowerment.

Powbd=

o o

The Council’s principles for Local Government Reorganisation

10.7 The council developed six principles which reflect what the council believes are the
most important considerations for reorganisation:

e Supporting growth, housing, transport and connectivity.

e Addressing the different needs of urban and rural communities.

e Making public services easier to access and navigate.

e Strengthening local identity, place and community voice.

¢ Creating a balanced and coherent population and service footprint.
¢ Ensuring financial sustainability and value for taxpayers.

For enquiries please contact: democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

Page 7


mailto:democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

10.8 The principles were developed with city-wide partners through an evidence-led
approach. The principles reflect the criteria set by MHCLG but includes an additional
criterion around growth, transport and connectivity. The draft final proposal explains how
the city council has outgrown its boundary and needs to expand to deliver joined up
growth, transport, housing and connectivity across Devon and to not be constrained by

outdated boundaries.

10.9 The council’s draft final proposal has been structured to demonstrate how the
proposal complies with each of the criteria and our principles (in italics). A summary

assessment is provided below.

Criterion

Evidence from Proposal

1. Single tier of local
government

Replaces 11 councils with 4 unitary authorities
Removes duplication and simplifies accountability.
Aligns governance with functional economic and housing
market areas.

2. Right size and
financial resilience
(Population Size and
financial viability)

Better balance of populations: 233k-456k per authority
Sustainable tax base and fair distribution of resources.

All four proposed new councils demonstrate both financial
viability with greater funding than cost and resilience
underpinned by stronger tax bases.

Financial viability model shows payback within three years.

3. High quality &
sustainable public
services

(Urban and rural
issues, accessibility to
services)

Tailored service delivery for urban and rural needs.

Better relationships with local people and communities -
more influence on decision-making.

Focus on prevention.

Proposed new models for critical services such as Adults and
Children's Services.

4. Collaboration and
responsiveness

Joint letter of support for Mayoral Strategic Authority.
Data sharing across all Devon councils.

Common questions for survey.

Agreement on the distribution of funding from MHCLG.
Close working between Exeter, Plymouth and Torbay.

5. Supports
devolution
(Growth, housing,
transport and
connectivity)

Provides balanced constituent authorities for a future Mayoral
Strategic Authority.

Aligns with English Devolution White Paper and Combined
County Authority model.

Enables strategic coordination for growth, skills, housing and
transport.

6. Community
engagement &
neighbourhood
empowerment
(Identity and Place)

Proposes Local Area Neighbourhood Committees -
enhances democratic accountability and local voice.
Strengthens relationships with parish and town council.
Unlocks potential for greater powers and funding under
devolution.

For enquiries please contact: democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

Page 8



mailto:democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

Determining Exeter City Council’s Preferred Geography

10.10 Devon is a large geographical area with small, dispersed populations. Within it are
two major urban areas - Exeter and Plymouth. The council has been clear from the outset
that LGR must reflect the unique characteristics of urban areas that drive growth for the
benefit of the whole county and their mutual dependency on the rural and coastal areas of
the county.

10.11 Following stakeholder feedback, the interim submission proposed up to four unitary
councils for Devon with a distinct focus on market towns and rural communities as well as
Devon’s two major cities of Exeter and Plymouth.

10.12 Based on further analysis and the steer given by Members, Council agreed the
following proposed geography:

1) An urban unitary council, based on the city of Exeter and surrounding area
expanding the current district council boundary into Parishes surrounding the city.
Serving a population of around 256,401 rising to 294,079 by 2040.

2) An urban unitary council, based on the city of Plymouth and adjacent Parishes.
Serving a population of around 301,000 rising to 318,612 by 2040.

3) A Coast and Countryside unitary council Incorporating the remaining parts of
Devon. Serving a population of around 675,179 rising to 765,834 by 2040.

10.13 At the time when the proposed geography was agreed, officers were unclear about
the intention of Torbay Council. Council was supportive of officers working with Torbay
and other Devon Councils to understand their positions and to ensure a full
understanding of the implications of a potential three unitary model for Devon.

10.14 Following the work by officers, it became clear that the ambitions of Exeter,
Plymouth and Torbay were broadly aligned and that the needs and challenges facing
predominantly urban areas were different the needs and challenges of coastal and rural
parts of Devon. It was recognised that a three unitary model (without Torbay) would
create an extreme size ratio between Exeter, Plymouth and the remainder of Devon. It
would also undermine equality between councils, create an imbalanced foundation for
partnership working and would be less financially balanced than a four unitary model.

10.15 It was therefore determined that the optimum and most financially balanced model
for Devon would be a four-unitary model that reflects Devon’s functional economic
geographies and community identities:

1. A Unitary council for Exeter and the surrounding parishes. Serving a population
of around 260,000.

2. A Unitary council for Plymouth and adjacent parishes. Serving a population of
around 305,000.

3. A Unitary council for Torbay and adjacent parishes. Serving a population of
around 230,000.

4. A Unitary council for the Devon Coast and Countryside. Serving a population of
around 455,000.

For enquiries please contact: democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

Page 9


mailto:democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

Key:

New Unitary Council for Exeter (Red)

Expanded Plymouth Unitary (Dark Green)

Expanded Torbay Unitary (Blue)

Devon Coast and Countryside Unitary (Light Green)

National Park and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (Green Hatch)

The case for four unitary councils

10.16 Our proposal for four new unitary councils centred in the urban centres of
Plymouth, Exeter and Torbay, and one that brings the coast and countryside together. By
creating councils that are clearly focused on the needs and challenges of their places and
aligned with the functional economic geography of the county, the council will be putting
in place firm foundations for the future. Councils can balance future growth, development,
conservation, engagement, collaboration and service delivery across geographies that
make sense for local people, businesses and communities and the way people lead their
lives. The new councils would work alongside each other and the Devon & Torbay
Combined County Authority, ensuring coherence between local delivery and strategic
priorities for growth, skills, transport, and climate action.

Financial Resilience

10.17 The four unitary model based on modified boundaries will deliver four Councils
more closely aligned in term of size, financial resources and Council Taxbase. All four
demonstrate both financial viability with greater funding than cost and resilience
underpinned by stronger taxbases.

10.18 Payback of transition costs is projected by year three of the new Councils, with
additional savings generated over a ten-year period.

10.19 The financial analysis undertaken demonstrates that there are sufficient reserves to
manage transition costs. This includes any transition costs that fall on the Housing
Revenue Account. However, it is acknowledged that many of these reserves may be held

For enquiries please contact: democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

Page 10



mailto:democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

for a specific purpose and therefore unusable in this context. Both Plymouth and Torbay
have confirmed that they have sufficient reserves to manage the transition costs within
their proposals and Exeter has a significant pipeline of capital receipts in progress to
manage the transition costs that fall on the new Council. However, it is acknowledged that
many of these reserves may be held for a specific purpose and therefore unusable in this
context.

Working collaboratively

10.20 To better understand local needs and views, a broad programme of engagement
was initiated to provide clear information about LGR, listen to what stakeholders and
residents had to say and share the plans as they took shape. Alongside this formal
engagement, the council has been actively involved in:

¢ MHCLG and Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE)
meetings, briefings and webinars.

o District Council’s Network and Local Government Association webinars and briefings.

e Regular meetings with local MPs.

¢ Regular meetings with other Leaders and Chief Executives in Devon as well as
comparable cities.

o Regular meetings with key partners and stakeholders.

e Engaging with the Exeter Partnership.

10.21 In July 2025, all councils across Devon signed a joint letter to Government calling
for the creation of a Strategic Mayoral Authority (SMA) uniting around a shared vision of
what devolution might look for the county.

10.22 On a practical level, the council has collaborated across Devon with the County
Council, the two Unitary Authorities and the other seven district councils to create a
shared data resource and developed a common questionnaire used to survey residents
across Devon. More directly, Exeter has been working closely with Plymouth and Torbay,
identifying much common ground as urban centres with similar ambitions to drive growth
for the entire region.

Stakeholder engagement

10.23 Comprehensive stakeholder engagement has taken place which has been guided
by the council’'s Consultation Charter.

10.24 The engagement process ran for six weeks during August and September 2025
and included:

e Online survey for residents based on a common questionnaire developed in
collaboration with other Devon councils.

e Enhanced representative survey for the residents in the rural and coast wards in our
proposal, conducted by external market researchers both in person and by
telephone.

o Key stakeholder conversations including with Steve Race MP, Devon & Somerset,
Fire and Rescue Service and Devon & Cornwall Police.

For enquiries please contact: democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

Page 11



mailto:democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

e Focus groups for VCSE groups representing seldom heard voices such as Care
Experienced Young People and Young Devon.

o Series of webinars and some in person meetings with Town and Parish Councils
included in the proposed new unitary for Exeter and the surrounding area.

o Business breakfast for local leaders.

o Webinars for NHS partners.

o Briefings, webinars and newsletter updates for Exeter City Council staff and
members.

e A website offering information and resources.

¢ Communications to inform and encourage participation in events and surveys.

o Explanatory leaflet with information about LGR.

o Articles in the Citizen newspaper — delivered to over 65,000 homes and businesses.

10.25 The most important services identified by both the online and representative
surveys were:

o Keeping children safe from harm.

e Care and support for older people and vulnerable adults.

e Education services and support for those with Special Educational Needs and
Disabilities (SEND).

10.26 On the impacts of local government reorganisation, key themes included:

¢ Having a good understanding of the issues facing their local area.
e Clear, open and honest decision-making.

o Decisions that impact people being made locally.

o Efficient services that offer value for money.

e Easily access the council services that people need.

o Improved services and decisions being made locally.

10.27 Full details of the outcome of the engagement process can be found in the draft
final proposal.

Timetable
o &
o $
& o k4 F &
& & §F 5 & s @ & §
] & ‘(‘o \":’ L & R (\(} & @Q &
& § & § S 3 s & > o 5 s &
§ P § & & & & N & g 8 & @
5 & > = S8 & S R d &L o & 3
g & & & £ @ g & & & & O & & &
é) ,,,Qe' «}Q :;';300 & & & QDQ' & ‘-bé‘ S‘P\ Q\o oo §. & S &
¥R F T & 4 3 ¥ o FF > ~ & & ¢
“E & ¥ & & ‘s o & & Q‘o §F 0§ & o & 03“‘"03
Aug-
Dec Jan Feb Mar May Aug Se;g) Nov Nov
2024 1\ 2025 | | 2025 2025 2025 2025 J0o5/ 2025 /1 2025 |} 995
May 2027 — Shadow elections We are here
1 April 2028 — New Council goes Live

For enquiries please contact: democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

Page 12



mailto:democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

10.28 The Government has asked that full business cases for local government
reorganisation are submitted by 28th November 2025.

10.29 Following the submission of the final proposal, the Government will undertake an
assessment to determine whether the proposal submitted meets the six criteria for LGR.
It is expected that the Government will consult on the proposals that it considers meets
the criteria in Spring 2026.

10.30 It is expected that the Government will make a decision on the LGR model for
Devon after the May 2026 elections but before summer recess.

10.31 Once this decision has been taken a Structural Changes Order will be put in place.
This is the legislation that will establish the new single tier for local government for Devon
and makes provision to abolish predecessor councils. It is currently anticipated that this
will happen in Autumn 2026.

10.32 Shadow elections for the new authorities will be held in May 2027.

10.33 Vesting Day, when the new councils legally come into operation will be on 1 April
2028.

11. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?

11.1 Approval of the recommendations contained in this report will contribute to the
council’s priority of leading a well-run council.

12. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?
12.1 A detailed risk register can be found at Appendix C.

13. Are there any other options?

13.1 The alternative option is that the city council does not submit a proposal for a new
unitary council to cover Exeter and the surrounding area. However, this would result in
Exeter being subsumed into a wider unitary geography that would not deliver the

essential economic and housing growth that will benefit the whole of Devon or provide the
localised provision of services.

Chief Executive, Bindu Arjoon

Author: Lorraine Betts, Executive Office Manager

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)

Background papers used in compiling this report:-
None

List of Appendices:

¢ Appendix A: Shaping Our Future: Putting People First in Exeter and Devon.
Exeter City Council: Draft Final Proposal for Local Government Reorganisation in
Devon

e Appendix B: LGR Equalities Impact Assessment

e Appendix C: Local Government Reorganisation Risk Register

For enquiries please contact: democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

Page 13



mailto:democratic.services@exeter.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

Shaping Our Future: Putting
People First in Exeter and
Devon

Exeter City Council:

Final Proposal for Local Government
Reorganisation in Devon

DRAFT

Page 15



Contents

0] 12710 o P 3
EXECUTIVE SUMIMIAIY .o ittt et et e et e et e eeaensataenseeneasneanas 5
Why Exeter needs to become a Unitary COUNCIl....cuveeniniiiiiiiiiiieeeecceieeeeaeaans 20
Why Devon Needs Fundamental Change .......ccooeiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 27
Our Baseline Proposal for Local Governmentin Devon .......ceveveiviiiiinininiiiineeenenen. 30
Our Modified Proposal for Devon: Four Unitary CounCilS....cccvuveveieieieieiiiiiiinieineenene. 32
How our Four Unitary MOdel DeliVErS .. ...ttt ee e e 38
Detailed Options Appraisal of our Modified Proposal ....c.cceeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeens 44
Options Appraisals (alternative OPtioNS) ..c.vee i ieiiiiiie e eeeeens 51
FiINancial RESIlIENCE .....cuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 72
Strengthening Democracy and Community Empowerment ........coovvviiiiiiiiininenenennen. 83

Neighbourhood based governance: Empowering communities and strengthening

COMMUNITY BNGAZEMENT . . ettt ittt ee et e et ettt eee e eaaeneneeensaaensaatnsnseasneenens 87
Sustainable Public Services Across Devon: tailored to local needs ...........cccccueeeneennes 96
Devolution in Devon: Unlocking the benefits for people and places .......cccccvevvnvenenens 121
Stakeholder Engagement: Understanding local VIEWS ......c.oeieviiiiiiiniiiiiininieiennne, 128
Working Collaboratively: Creating the Right Solution for Devon .........cccceevivevenennen... 139
Transition and IMpLlemMentation ... e aas 140
OUr Asks Of GOVEINIMENT....ceuiiiiiiiiii et ettt e s e eaeeaaes 145
(O 0] o Tod [T =] o] o RN 145
FAY o] o1=T o Lo [ QPP PP P PPN 147

2

Page 16



Foreword

There are few places in the United Kingdom quite like Devon.

Proud, distinctive, full of character and potential. From the bustle of its cities to the calm of its
coast and the deep steadiness of its rural heart, Devon carries an energy all its own - confident
yet grounded, modern yet shaped by centuries of history and belonging.

Exeter stands at the heart of that story - a compact city with significant impact, helping to
power Devon’s growth while staying faithful to its people, communities and heritage.

This submission is led by Exeter City Council, but it is not a plan for Exeter alone. It is a plan
for Devon. A plan to strengthen what already works, to fix what does not, and to build a fairer,
simpler, more local way of structuring local government in this incredible county.

We have worked with partners and communities across Devon to shape it. Across hundreds
of conversations and ideas, we heard the same message, time and again: people want
decisions made closer to home, by those who know the places they serve. Because when
decision-making sits nearer to people, it works better. We see that every day in Exeter in the
success of local partnerships, in joined-up housing and regeneration, in the way decisions
made locally, improve lives.

Our case for four unitary councils is compelling and evidence-based, but it is also proudly
ambitious. Exeter’s own experience of managing growth responsibly, investing in housing,
skills, culture and sustainability, underpins this ambition.

We want more for the communities in our cities, our county, and our country. More opportunity,
more growth, and higher living standards for everyone who calls this place home.

Our cities matter. They are where ideas grow, where businesses invest, where research,
technology and innovation take root. Cities like Exeter and Plymouth have shown how creating
jobs, skills, and prosperity can lift the whole region. But our countryside is just as vital. Its
landscapes, its traditions, and its people define who we are. It demands a different approach
— one that values community over centralisation, care over convenience, place over process.

Our proposal unlocks the potential of our cities while protecting the special character of our
rural and coastal places. It is bold but balanced, rooted in Devon’s strengths and built to be
sustainable. It offers savings, stability, and a platform for growth and innovation. It strengthens
what works — from housing and regeneration to local services - and fixes what doesn’t: the
strain on care, the pressure on transport, the distance between decision-makers and the
people they serve.

Exeter City Council is proud to have led work that reflects cross party-political support. Our
submission has resonated across Exeter and Devon — with our council’s political groups, civic
partners and local community organisations — standing behind a shared belief in the city’s role
in its and Devon’s future.

Our vision is simple: a Devon where every child can thrive; where everyone has a home, feels
safe and where no one is left behind. A Devon where services are designed around people,
not bureaucracy. Where our cities drive growth and innovation and our rural and coastal
communities keep their special character.

Page 17



This is how we build a better, fairer, greener Devon — confident in its purpose, proud of its
people, and ready for what comes next.

[ ]
Clir Phil Bialyk Bindu Arjoon
Leader, Exeter City Council Chief Executive, Exeter City Council

Page 18



Executive Summary

Local government fit for the future: the right option for Devon

Four unitary councils, one Devon system. We propose an expanded Exeter, an expanded
Plymouth, an expanded Torbay, and a Devon Coast & Countryside unitary - four unitary
councils aligned to functional economic areas and working as one delivery system with the
Devon and Torbay Combined County Authority (DTCCA). This model simplifies accountability,
improves services, and offers financial viability and resilience, while protecting local identity
and making the CCA a clear partner for transport, planning and skills. To achieve this, we
request ministerial approval for the boundary modifications required to deliver coherent and
functional unitary areas for Devon.

The case for change: addressing critical challenges

Devon is a unique and compelling place to live, work, and visit - two coastlines, two national
parks, and landscapes of international importance blended with important national industry,
heritage, and cutting-edge technologies. The critical challenge we face across Devon is one
of geography. Historic administrative boundaries constrain Exeter, Plymouth and Torbay’s
ability to extend across natural communities and functional economic areas, throttling their
growth potential. The current district boundaries artificially divide the sphere of influence of
each growth area, making it harder to deliver economic and housing growth. These three
urban areas exist within an otherwise large and sparsely populated rural county of towns,
villages and communities.

Devon has an ageing rural population placing huge pressure on public services, contains
significant pockets of deprivation, a lack of affordable housing, skills gaps, low wages, and the
migration of young people out of the rural areas. Our proposal is structured to address these
challenges and avoid creating authorities with undue financial advantage or disadvantage,
thus ensuring all areas benefit from appropriately allocated resources and that no community
is left behind as Devon transitions to this new governance framework.

A compelling vision

Our vision is for a Devon that works for all our residents. A Devon where every child can thrive,
where everyone has a home and feels safe, where no one is left behind; services are designed
around people, not bureaucracies; our cities drive growth and innovation, and our rural and
coastal communities keep their special character.

Local government is uniquely placed to coordinate and drive forward work and investment to
bring this vision to life. But it requires a local government that is fit for purpose now and in the
future.

Our proposal meets the Government’s six criteria:

Single tier of local government for the area

Right size to achieve efficiencies, improve capacity and withstand financial shocks
Prioritise the delivery of high quality and sustainable public services to citizens
Councils in the area have sought to work together in coming to a view that meets local
needs & is informed by local views

Must support devolution

PN~

o

Page 19




6. Enable stronger community to engagement and deliver genuine opportunity for
neighbourhood empowerment.

In addition, our proposal is built on six principles, developed and tested with partners and
stakeholders. They respond to the government’s requirement for a single tier of local
government and equally importantly, they reflect what matters most for Devon’s future:

Supporting growth, housing, transport and connectivity
Addressing the different needs of urban and rural communities
Making public services easier to access and navigate
Strengthening local identity, place and community voice

Creating a balanced and coherent population and service footprint
Ensuring financial sustainability and value for taxpayers.

o0k wh =

These principles have guided our evidence-led work to define the future local geography
structure for Devon: of a new council that includes the city of Exeter. They provide the basis
for a structure that is practical, locally grounded and capable of delivering better outcomes for
residents.

Why Exeter Should Become a Unitary Authority

Exeter is the economic driver of Devon, home to a world-class Russell Group university, the
Met Office, and a thriving knowledge economy. It leads nationally in climate science and
environmental intelligence, positioning itself as a global innovation hub. With strong
infrastructure, high productivity, and one of the UK’s fastest-growing travel-to-work areas,
Exeter is forecast to exceed £5.5bn GVA, ranking among the top ten UK cities for economic
growth.

Despite these strengths, Exeter’s potential is constrained by outdated governance and
boundaries. The current two-tier system fragments decision-making, limits fiscal autonomy,
and prioritises rural agendas over urban dynamism. This has resulted in missed opportunities,
such as the collapse of the Greater Exeter Local Plan and exclusion from key enterprise zone
decisions. Without restructure, Exeter risks overheating, facing housing shortages, transport
strain, and labour gaps while surrounding areas underperform.

Creating a new unitary council aligned with Exeter’s functional geography will unlock
coordinated planning for housing, transport, and infrastructure. It will enable strategic
investment across high-growth areas like Cranbrook, Skypark, and Exmouth, supporting clean
growth, climate resilience, and nature recovery. This model will strengthen Exeter’s role as a
regional connector and gateway to the South West, leveraging its exceptional connectivity via
the M5, high-speed rail links, and international airport.

Exeter’s youthful, highly skilled population, combined with its innovation clusters in advanced
manufacturing, digital technologies, and life sciences, offers a unique platform for inclusive
growth. A unitary authority will provide the scale and powers needed to accelerate investment,
deliver sustainable housing, and retain talent, ensuring Exeter continues to drive prosperity
for the whole of Devon.

Page 20



Our Baseline Proposal

Our Baseline Proposal reflects the rural nature of Devon and champion’s the distinctive urban
character of Exeter, Plymouth and Torbay. It meets the requirements of the Local Government
and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and compares favourably with the Governments’
six criteria set out in the “English Devolution White Paper: Power and Partnerships:
Foundation for Growth”.

This provides a workable single tier of local government for Devon, but it is not financially
viable, nor does it address the growth potential of our cities which is currently hampered by
historical boundaries.

Map: Four Unitary Councils on existing district boundaries

Key:
New Unitary Council for Exeter (Red) National Park and Areas of Outstanding Natural
Existing Plymouth Authority (Dark Green) Beauty (Green Hatch)
Existing Torbay Authority (Blue) National Marine Park (Blue Hatch)
New Devon Coast and Countryside Unitary (Light
Green)

The councils in our Baseline Proposal are:

A new unitary council for Exeter on existing boundaries

A continuing unitary council for Plymouth on existing boundaries

A continuing unitary council for Torbay on existing boundaries

A new unitary council for Devon Coast and Countryside Council (based on
existing district boundaries)

Page 21



new unitary council based on the current Exeter City Council
boundary with a population of 138,399

he continuing unitary authority of Plymouth City Council with a
population of 272,067

he continuing unitary authority of Torbay Council with
population of 140,126

new a new unitary council covering the rest of the current
Devon County Council area, with a population of 703,914

Our Modified Proposal

Our proposal establishes a single tier of local government that reflects the natural economic
geography and functional relationships of Devon. We embrace the opportunity to reorganise
local government in Devon into natural communities and cohesive localities that present clear
opportunities to improve outcomes for all residents across Devon.

Map: Four Unitary Councils on modified boundaries

Key:
New Unitary Council for Expanded Exeter (Red) National Park and Areas of Outstanding Natural
New Unitary for Expanded Plymouth (Dark Green) Beauty (Green Hatch)
New Unitary for Expanded Torbay (Blue) National Marine Park (Blue Hatch)
New Devon Coast and Countryside Unitary (Light
Green)

Page 22



The Modified proposal groups existing principal authorities into four unitary councils with
changes to existing districts summarised in the table below.

Modified Four Unitary Proposal

Unitary A: An expanded
Exeter Council (Type B
proposal)

A new unitary council based on the current Exeter City Council
boundary with a population of 138,399 with a Ministerial
modification to extend this with 15 parishes from within
Teignbridge District Council, 28 parishes from within East Devon
District Council and six parishes from within Mid Devon District
Council resulting in a population of 260,195

Unitary B: An expanded
Plymouth City Council (As a
continuing authority)

The continuing unitary authority of Plymouth City Council with a
population of 272,067 with a Ministerial modification, to extend
this with 13 parishes from within the South Hams District Council
resulting in a population of 305,731

Unitary C: An expanded
Torbay Council (As a
continuing authority)

The continuing authority of Torbay Council with_population of
140,126, with a Ministerial modification, extend this with 23
parishes from within the Teignbridge District Council and South
Hams District Council resulting in a population of 232,697

Unitary D: Devon Coast
and Countryside Council
(Type B proposal)

A new a new unitary council covering the rest of the current
Devon County Council area with a population of 455,883

How Our Four Unitary Model Delivers

Our Modified Proposal for Devon strikes the right balance to make the most of the once-in-a
generation opportunity to create local government for Devon that is firmly:

¢ Rooted in place and delivering better outcomes - focussed on distinct places and
able to better manage resources, attract investment and deliver value for money.

o Based on real places and economies - functional geographies that support growth

and accountability

¢ Built on fair, sustainable finances - based on a fair and balanced tax base to support
financial resilience and aligned governance

o Wrapped around communities — giving them a real voice in decisions through local
neighbourhood committees and stronger democratic representation

e Protecting our environment - from our coasts to cities, towns and villages, to our

countryside

¢ Providing simpler, smarter, public services that work better for people — reducing
duplication and complexity, delivering better decision making and improved customer

experiences

e Practical, phased and ready to deliver - ensuring a logical flow into effective new
authorities, with shared strategic need and value placed on working together.

Page 23




The right option for Devon

Our proposal is for four new unitary councils (“unitaries”) centred in the three urban centres of
Plymouth, Exeter and Torbay, and one that brings the coast and countryside together. By
creating councils that are clearly focused on the needs and challenges of their places and
aligned with the functional economic geography of the county, we are putting in place firm
foundations for the future. Councils can balance future growth, development, conservation,
engagement, collaboration and service delivery across geographies that make sense for local
people, businesses and communities and the way people lead their lives. The new councils
would work alongside each other and the Devon & Torbay Combined County Authority
(DTCCA), ensuring coherence between local delivery and strategic priorities for growth, skills,
transport, and climate action.

From 11 councils (eight district councils, To four unitary authorities on modified
two unitary councils and one county boundaries:
council)

‘w,
)
)
L

r o AT 7N
A 0
8> 9 Yy
W ~
—_
&L &

Key: Key:
Existing District Councils (Pink) New Un!tary for Expanded Exeter (Red)
Plymouth Unitary Council (Yellow — 8) New Unitary for Expanded Plymouth (Dark Green)

New Unitary for Expanded Torbay (Blue)

New Devon Coast and Countryside Unitary (Light
Green)

National Park and Areas of Outstanding Natural
Beauty (Green Hatch)

National Marine Park (Blue Hatch)

Torbay Unitary Council (Yellow — 10)

Modified boundaries to enable growth, not constrain it

These foundations cannot be built on our existing administrative geography; one designed
over 50 years ago. Our current district boundaries do not neatly aggregate into functional
socio-economic areas. It is a geography that bakes in significant constraints to the future
growth and prosperity of the county, locking in inefficiencies and cost inequalities that could
otherwise be released. Nowhere is this more pertinent than with the current boundaries around
the three urban areas that are too tight to facilitate sustainable growth and funding. Our

10

Page 24



proposal therefore requires new boundaries to be drawn, based not on existing district and
unitary boundaries but on parishes.

Our Baseline Proposal for Devon, illustrated below, reflects the rural nature of Devon whilst
recognising Exeter, Plymouth and Torbay’s distinctive urban characters. Whilst this provides
a workable single tier of local government for Devon, this is not our final proposal.

Four Unitary Solution: Baseline Proposal Four Unitary Solution: Modified Proposal

Key: Key:

New Unitary Council for Exeter (Red) New Unitary Council for Expanded Exeter (Red)
Existing Plymouth Authority (Dark Green) New Unitary for Expanded Plymouth (Dark
Existing Torbay Authority (Blue) Green)

New Unitary for Expanded Torbay (Blue)

New Devon Coast and Countryside Unitary (Light Green) New Devon Coast and Countryside Unitary (Light

National Park and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty

G Hatch Green)
( reen Hatc ,) National Park and Areas of Outstanding Natural
National Marine Park (Blu Hatch) Beauty (Green Hatch)

National Marine Park (Blue Hatch)

Our final, Modified Proposal meets the Government’s criteria more effectively because it
better aligns with the functional economic geographies of Devon and provides a balanced tier
of local government for Devon. It responds to the feedback from our extensive stakeholder
engagement work; better reflects how people live their lives; reinforces the importance of
sustainability, whilst embracing a highly valued sense of place and community cohesiveness.
It is on this basis that we invite the Secretary of State to use the powers in Section 11 of the
2007 Act to modify our Baseline Proposal to achieve better outcomes for the whole of Devon.

The challenges of tackling this in the short-term are vastly outweighed by the aggregation of
gains over the long-term, which will positively impact future generations. We therefore ask the
Secretary of State to incorporate the boundary refinements detailed below as part of our
modified proposal:

These adjustments enable our proposal to more effectively meet the Government’s criteria by

enhancing the coherence of public services, strengthening financial sustainability, supporting
local identities, and achieving the right balance of partners for devolution.

1"

Page 25



In accordance with the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and the
Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) Guidance Note (May 2025),
this proposal therefore requests ministerial approval for boundary modifications required to
deliver coherent and functional unitary areas for Devon. The baseline model reflects existing
county and district boundaries. The modified model proposes four new unitary councils -
expanded Exeter, expanded Plymouth, expanded Torbay, and Devon Coast and Countryside
- with parish and ward boundary adjustments to reflect real housing, labour-market, and
service catchments.

Four unitary councils for Devon

Our modified proposal meets the Government’s criteria more effectively than those being
brought forward by other councils in Devon. Our proposal recognises the significant and
impactive roles of Exeter, Devon’s capital city, of the City of Plymouth and the urban area of
Torbay. These are drivers of economic growth and, together with the new Coast and
Countryside unitary, create the opportunity to realise our vision and benefit the whole of
Devon.

Four new unitary authorities for Devon

Expanded Exeter

Expanded Plymouth

Expanded Torbay

Devon Coast and

successful city. Many

partners; voluntary and
community sector
organisations and
communities are active
participants in the city’s
success, which brings a
strong sense of pride in
place. Our proposal
reflects the housing and
economic growth of the
areas surrounding the
city’s current boundary
and identifies a realistic,
functional economic and
geographical area within
which people look to the
city for work, education,
access to public
services, leisure and
cultural opportunities.
Exeter is in a pivotal
place within Devon, with
strong transport links
across the South West
and to London.

businesses, public sector

planning approach
through the Plymouth
and South West Devon
Joint Local Plan which
already demonstrates
successful collaboration
across Plymouth and the
communities of South
Hams. The expanded
council for Plymouth will
deliver integrated and
effective local
governance to the people
of Plymouth and the
surrounding area that
already naturally function
as part of the Plymouth
housing and economic
area.

which provides a more
coherent geography and
better coordination of
critical infrastructure in
the wider area. The
larger scale provides
resources to sustain and
expand innovative
approaches to integrated
care and children's
services whilst building
resilience against
demographic pressures
of an ageing coastal
community. It creates the
ability to focus on coastal
renewal and the roll out
of its unique partnership
with the NHS over a
wider catchment area.

Council City Council Council Countryside Council
Pop. 260,195 Pop. 305,731 Pop. 232,697 Pop. 455,883
Exeter is a young, Builds upon Plymouth’s An expanded unitary Creates a rural focused
vibrant, and increasingly innovative strategic authority for Torbay council which reflects the

dispersed settlement
pattern in Devon and
keeps the market towns
and most rural areas
together at a suitable
scale. The new Devon
Coast and Countryside
authority can focus on
the distinct needs of
dispersed, market towns
and villages - addressing
the unique challenges of
coastal, moorland, and
agricultural communities
— while protecting their
special character.

Page 26

12




Headline data profile Exeter Plymouth Torbay Devon Coast
Couzzzﬂde
Population 260,195 305,731 232,697 455,883
Projected population growth to 2040 114% 105% 110% 114%
Council Tax band D average 2,001 1,965 1,983 2,014
Council Tax band D maximum 2,040 1,998 2,004 2,071
Council Tax base 88,493 90,449 82,356 182,395
Council Tax Base per unit of population 2.90 3.32 2.67 2.44
Council Tax income per unit of population 690 591 742 825

Primary benefits

Our proposal releases a wide range of significant benefits for the people and businesses of
Devon. It:

1. Provides a credible solution to Devon's unique mix of coastal, urban and dispersed
communities — reflecting functional economic geographies and enabling tailored
responses to distinct urban and rural challenges.

2. Empowers Plymouth, Exeter, and Torbay to lead on urban priorities and grow as
service centres for their surrounding communities, unlocking their potential for
economic and housing growth.

3. Empowers the new Coast and Countryside authority to focus on the distinct needs of
dispersed, rural market towns and villages — the unique challenges of coastal,
moorland, and agricultural communities — while protecting their special character.

4. Fixes what does not work — such as the strain on social care, the pressure on transport,
the distance between decision-makers and the people they serve - by enabling each
new unitary to drive service innovation and transformation appropriate for its context.

5. Offers savings and financial stability with a balanced and sustainable tax base that
avoids undue advantage or disadvantage for any area.

6. Ensures parishes and towns are kept whole, with no principal settlement split,
preserves local civic and community identity, and simplifies and clarifies local
democratic accountability.

7. Reflects the feedback from our extensive public engagement.

8. Empowers local communities and strengthens community engagement through the
creation of new neighbourhood area committees, allowing greater levels of community

representation and influence on local decision making.

9. Is fit for the future, ensuring Devon continues to grow and develop because of its
administrative geography, not despite it.

Affordable unitary councils that deliver transformative services

In our proposal, each unitary council has a balanced and sustainable tax base, avoiding undue
advantage or disadvantage for any area whilst retaining Devon’s sense of place in both rural

13

Page 27




and urban areas. This matters because Devon’s fair tax base supports financial resilience
and equitable service delivery. It avoids fiscal imbalance that could lead to service cuts or
unequal investment because each unitary is designed to have sufficient revenue capacity to
meet local needs without over-reliance on central government support.

Our proposal has been specifically designed to align with the distinct needs of Devon’s
communities. Senior Finance Officers from Devon’s two current unitary authorities and Exeter
City Council have worked together with input from independent financial consultants. This
partnership has ensured that financial assessments are robust and representative of coherent
economic areas, thereby supporting the establishment of a suitable and balanced tax base
across the four proposed new unitaries.

Each new unitary will provide a single accountable tier for waste and recycling, transport and
highways, planning and housing, environment and climate (including flood, biodiversity,
parks), regulatory and community protection (Environmental Health, licensing, trading
standards, community safety), libraries and culture, supported by a unified digital /customer
platform. This consolidates contracts, simplifies access for residents, and supports DTCCA
priorities on growth, skills, and net zero.

This change will create simpler, stronger, and more strategic local government. It will allow us
to extend our best and most effective services to more people, delivering better outcomes and
creating a healthier, more prosperous future for every resident in Devon.

Stronger, Simpler and Strategic because the new councils will have a stronger voice for
each locality - driving growth, attracting inward investment and tackling complex strategic
challenges.

Local and Effective through the co-production a system of Neighbourhood Area Committees
and Community Networks to enable stronger community engagement and deliver genuine
opportunities for neighbourhood empowerment.

Efficient and Sustainable with councils of the right scale to be able to drive
innovation through digital and alternative delivery models and deliver better outcomes for
people.

Putting People First in Devon
Pillars for Change

Tackling local challenges Developing locally owned
solutions

Strategies and plans define a

clear agenda and encourage

local action.

Evidenced and insight-led
practice
Integrating data to build rich
pictures of local communities to
better target demand and
understand need.

Creating solutions in each
locality that focus on
prevention and the strengths
and assets of local
communities.
Delivering

Strengthening Collaborating

Effective place-based
services: where services are
tailored to local population
needs and council footprints.

Neighbourhoods and
community support: where trus
relationships and prevention
are built.

At the right scale to ensure
sustainability, specialism or
strategic coherence.

Page 28

14



Our vision is for joined up person centred services delivering a simpler customer experience
that will offer:

o A stronger citizen voice - feedback, comments and complaints will be captured in a
consistent way meaning this will have a louder voice in service improvement.

o A single citizen view - by bringing data from across systems to enable more efficient
interactions.

o Better insight and intelligence - the better use of data and artificial intelligence
provides greater potential for transforming how demand is managed and how better
decisions are made whilst protecting the integrity of customers’ data

Options appraisals

Our analysis is that the proposals for three unitary councils brought forward by Devon County
Council and the alternative model from some of the District Councils, do not ensure our urban
and rural areas are on a sustainable financial footing nor are they aligned with functional
economic areas, two critical factors that will drive the future growth and success of these
areas.

Our (modified) proposal ‘New Devon’ ‘1-4-5’
Four Unitary Councils Three Unitary Councils Three Unitary Councils
. (S W i
"”\ j \ . £ . ) 3 ..,%ﬁ = =

SR T o=
S b el Ve ST

The New Devon single unitary proposal simply amalgamates the existing eight districts and
the county council into a super-sized Council that will co-exist alongside Plymouth and Torbay
unitary councils. It bakes in constraints to growth over the next generation. At face value it
may appear the simplest solution, but it is too large to be responsive. We know from research
elsewhere that - especially in terms of relational public services - bigger is not always better.
Economies of scale do not accrue indefinitely.

The “1-4-5’ three-unitary proposal is only a marginal improvement on the above. This option
fails to account for the need of Plymouth to grow and divides the remainder of Devon into two
new councils submerging the urban centres of Exeter and Torbay - merging five and four
councils respectively. In doing so it creates artificial unitary authorities based solely on old
boundaries, lacking any coherent rationale. The result is an imbalanced structure that favours
rural areas, undermines Exeter ‘s ability to fulfil its role as the region’s capital city, and leaves
Plymouth as the smallest and most constrained authority.

The table below provides a summary of the overall option appraisals supporting our preferred
option for four unitary councils.

15

Page 29



o:rrgnpoot:r d ‘New Devon’ ‘1-4-5’
S Four unitary Three unitary Three unitary
councils councils councils

Single tier of local government Medium Medium

Right size and financial
resilience

High quality and sustainable
public services

Collaboration and
responsiveness

Supports devolution

Community engagement and
neighbourhood empowerment

Our analysis shows that the four unitary solution is the one that most clearly meets the
government criteria and the needs of the people of Devon.

Strengthening Democratic Representation and Empowering Communities

Our proposal sets out a governance model for four new unitary authorities in Devon, designed
to strengthen democratic representation and empower communities through greater local
engagement. The existing Leader and Cabinet system will continue for Exeter, Plymouth, and
Torbay, with the same model applied to the new Coast and Countryside authority.

Indicative councillor numbers have been developed in line with Local Government Boundary
Commission for England (LGBCE) criteria to balance representation and workload. Proposed
sizes are Exeter (72 councillors), Plymouth (60-72), Torbay (44-54), and Coast and
Countryside (70-100). These figures reflect population, geography, and the need for effective
governance. Final numbers will be confirmed through a full electoral review following
consultation.

Neighbourhood-Based Governance and Civic Identity

The proposal introduces Neighbourhood Area Committees (NACs), which will act as inclusive
forums for residents, councillors, and partners to shape local priorities, influence service
delivery, and foster community cohesion. NACs will be co-designed with communities and
supported by dedicated neighbourhood teams, ensuring decisions are made closer to
residents and reflect local needs. Over time, NACs will gain devolved powers and budgets for
local projects, planning input, and community safety initiatives, funded through efficiency
savings, harmonised budgets, and developer contributions.

The model builds on Exeter's proven Wellbeing Exeter partnership and decades of asset-
based community development, embedding principles of local empowerment, accountability,
and collaboration. Town and Parish Councils will remain vital partners, ensuring continuity and
local representation. This structure aligns with government ambitions for devolution and
creates a strong foundation for integrated, place-based services.

To preserve Exeter’s historic identity during reorganisation, the proposal recommends
establishing Charter Trustees under the Structural Change Order. These trustees will maintain
ceremonial functions, including the Lord Mayor’'s role, civic regalia, and historic rights,

16

Page 30



safeguarding Exeter’s city status and heritage while governance transitions to the new unitary
authority.

Mayoral Strategic Authority

The proposed creation of four unitary councils will strengthen devolution by aligning local
delivery with the Devon and Torbay Combined County Authority’s strategic tier, enabling
coherent planning for housing, transport, and economic development. This structure will pave
the way for a Mayoral Strategic Authority (MSA), replacing DTCCA and granting enhanced
powers for spatial planning, infrastructure coordination, housing delivery, skills development,
and climate resilience.

A future MSA would:
¢ Integrate transport networks and deliver a single Local Transport Plan.
o Coordinate housing and regeneration through strategic planning and funding.

o Drive skills development for key sectors (climate science, marine autonomy, clean
energy, advanced manufacturing).

e Support health integration and innovation zones.

o Advocate nationally for infrastructure investment and climate action.

Transition and Implementation

The Transition Plan for Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) in Devon will follow a
structured, phased approach to ensure stability and continuity. Initially, an informal
Implementation Team will be established in each authority to oversee preliminary planning
work and to recommend terms of reference to the statutory Joint Committees when they are
established. This will ensure critical preparatory work continues during the government’s
consultation and decision-making phase.

Proposed Timeline

Preparation and mobilisation

Establish Implementation Team to:

= Develop preliminary implementation
planning work

* Develop Terms of Reference for
recommendation to statutory joint
committee

* Develop outline implementation plan
for recommendation to statutory joint
committee

* Development of programme structures

Design and planning

Establish Statutory Joint Committee to:

= Manage transition to Shadow
Authorities

* Recommend governance structures

= Agree formal Implementation Plan

Establish formal Implementation Team

to:

* Confirm programme structures, work
stream leads and staffing

* Prepare for shadow elections

* Further develop Implementation Plan

Dec ‘25 -Jun 26 Jun ‘26 — May ‘27

Page 31

Shadow period

Statutory Joint Committee to:

Elections to shadow
unitary

+ Agree shadow governance
arrangements
Agreement of operating
models

+ Setbudgets

+ Approve final structures

Formal Implementation Team

to:

+ Deliver against
Implementation Plan

Vesting day onwards

INFORMAL ARRANGEMENTS FORMAL ARRANGEMENTS FORMAL ARRANGEMENTS FORHALARRANGEMEN!!

Statutory Joint Committee to:

* Ensure safe and legal
delivery of services from
Day 1

* Closedown of Councils

Formal Implementation Team

to:

* Deliver against
Implementation Plan

May ‘27 — Mar ‘28 April 2028 onwards

17



Governance

Robust governance arrangements will be established to ensure political oversight, strategic
leadership, and operational delivery are aligned and effective.

Political steering group giving
) oversight of planning for
Oversight Board implementation.

Devon Leaders

EWVLNSLICIASEY Ensures strategic
alignment, risk and
interdependencies.

Programme Board

Programme ) Oversees all programme
Management Office  EEYINTN

(PMO)

Dedicated petalleq planning for
Work integration of functions and
DASHTEENTE harmonisation.

During the period up to the Structural Change Order (SCO), a Devon Leaders Oversight
Board will provide collective political direction and assurance, while an LGR Programme
Board comprising current Devon Chief Executives, will oversee strategic alignment, risk and
interdependencies.

After the SCO is made, Joint Committees and formal Implementation Teams will manage the
implementation plan.

Critical services such as Adult Social Care and Children’s Services including Special
Educational Needs and Disabled (SEND) will be prioritised to ensure a “safe and legal’
transition.

The approach prioritises safety, stability, and phased transformation to deliver improved
outcomes.

Conclusion

The proposal recommends reorganising Devon’s local government into four unitary councils
aligned to economic geographies. This model simplifies governance, removes duplication, and
delivers:

« Financial resilience through balanced tax bases and sustainable council sizes.
« Integrated, high-quality services designed around people and place.

e Clear accountability and stronger collaboration.

o Support for devolution with a balanced voice for Devon.

o Enhanced community engagement via participatory governance while preserving
local identity.
18

Page 32



This is a strategic investment in Devon’s future prosperity, resilience, and democratic strength.

This page is left intentionally blank

19

Page 33



Why Exeter needs to become a Unitary Council

Exeter is a thriving, high-performing city - home to a world-class university, cutting-edge
climate science, and a booming knowledge economy. It's the economic engine of Devon, with
strong infrastructure, high productivity, and one of the UK’s fastest-growing travel-to-work
areas. But its growth is being throttled by outdated governance.

Exeter lacks the autonomy and investment power of a unitary authority. Fragmented
governance, limited fiscal control, and under-resourced neighbouring districts are stalling its
potential. The collapse of the Greater Exeter Local Plan and exclusion from key enterprise
zone decisions are stark examples of missed opportunities.

Without reform, Exeter risks overheating - housing shortages, transport strain, and labour gaps
— while surrounding areas underperform. The current two-tier system prioritises rural agendas
over urban dynamism, dampening transformational growth.

A new unitary council for Exeter and the surrounding area - aligned with Exeter’s functional
geography—covering strategic developments like Cranbrook, Skypark, and Exmouth - would
unlock coordinated planning, better transport, and smarter investment. This footprint reflects
Exeter’'s Travel to Work Area and Housing Market area enabling single-footprint plan making
and transport sequencing.

The challenge we face across Devon is one of geography. Historic administrative boundaries
constrain Exeter, Plymouth and Torbay’s ability to extend proven models across the natural
community and economic areas. Our vision for reorganisation in Devon is for transformational
change. Working together we will create a modern, coherent and resilient model of local
government, fit for the future and in line with the ambitions of the ‘English Devolution White
Paper’, delivering health and prosperity for all of Devon’s communities. The proposed new
councils will streamline decision-making, improve service delivery, and align policy with local
needs. Our proposal reflects functional economic geographies and enables tailored responses
to distinct urban and rural challenges.

The three urban centric councils in our proposal, including a new unitary council for Exeter
and the surrounding area will be liberated from historic boundary constraints to create the
conditions for each area to flourish, unlocking their full potential for innovative, inclusive growth
and prosperity. This aligns closely with the government’s mission based ‘Plan for Change’ and
each of the core pillars in the ‘UK Modern Industrial Strategy 2025’. The fourth unitary council
in our proposal is designed to fully focus on the unique needs of Devon’s rural and coastal
communities, ensuring that our market towns prosper and grow sustainably.

Exeter and Plymouth are already economic drivers and together with Torbay, are the principal
engines of growth and innovation in Devon: each of which is constrained by historic
boundaries that do not reflect how people live their lives. Each council will be able to put in
place plans that deliver at the scale and pace which is right for their areas. Exeter, Plymouth
and Torbay will consolidate their roles as key economic drivers for the Devon economy, each
contributing to clean growth across the southwest. Together, these urban economies will act
as anchors for wider economic resilience across Devon’s rural, coastal and market town
communities.

The proposed coast and countryside rural unitary authority will adopt a place-based,

polycentric strategy, to better target investment, reform funding formulas, and support market
towns and coastal communities. We will champion rural and coastal education renewal,

20

Page 34



improve post-16 pathways, and address teacher recruitment challenge. It will empower towns
like Barnstaple, Totnes, and Tiverton as local economic anchors.

All four unitary authorities will plan strategically, taking forward the recommendations of the
Devon Housing Commission in an enhanced partnership with Homes England and the DTCCA
to deliver a pipeline of housing sites and a Strategic Housing Plan for Devon. We will fully
utilise the new powers and funding to lever support to achieve our goals. We will future proof
local plans to deliver national housing targets, tackle the Devon housing crisis and provide
wide-ranging benefits, for Devon, where the potential for economic growth is substantial. By
ensuring a sufficient supply of high-quality, affordable homes, in the right places, we
will enable people to access employment opportunities, boost investment and economic
growth, reduce commuting times, deliver climate resilience and nature recovery, improve
public health and wellbeing outcomes for people and reduce health inequalities in our
communities.

There is a necessary imperative for urban areas to focus on driving the growth agenda for
Devon. A strong Exeter area delivering strategic brownfield development in the city and
adjacent towns such as Cranbrook will accelerate the success of the southeastern part of
Devon. An ambitious Plymouth providing intensified development in the city alongside the
Sherford New Town on its edge together will be the hub for the southwest of Devon and
Cornwall whilst a regenerating and growing Torbay will anchor the south of Devon. These
three growing, urban areas provide complementary growth potential which will support the
ambitions of Devon as a whole.

Our innovative businesses, university departments, and research institutions play a vital role
in tackling national and global economic opportunities and challenges. One of our core
strengths is in the knowledge economy, where we can demonstrate a regional cluster of
innovation industries which align with the UK Modern Industrial Strategy core pillars for growth
in:

Advanced Manufacturing

Creative

Digital & Technologies

Financial Services

Life Sciences

Professional & Business Services

This cluster is focused on four innovation zones: the City of Exeter (including the University,
city centre, and Met Office); Exeter Science Park; Torbay and Exeter Airport. However,
because each zone, is in separate local authority administrative area, there is no coordination,
strategic alignment, and connectivity to support future investment and growth in each sector.
Each industry must fend for itself and compete on a national stage.

Our Modified Four Unitary model would overcome these challenges by spreading and
accelerating growth in the following ways:

e convening more productive relationships between the key institutions

e leveraging a broader investment package which benefits equally each high value
sector

e plan infrastructure investment at the sub-regional scale to enable growth and
development of each sector

In turn, we would expand the benefits outwards to the rest of Devon, linking with other growth
clusters in North Devon, Torbay and Plymouth, creating a South West Innovation Corridor, on
a par with the Oxford/Cambridge Arc. We would support an entrepreneurial, networked region

21

Page 35



of start-ups and scaling business growth more rapidly across the bedrock sectors, helping to
modernise our rural economy, with high knowledge, high value firms operating across our

geography.

We will enable growth which is inclusive and that local people in our market and coastal towns
are supported and enabled to benefit from these new opportunities. We would facilitate access
to skills, training and education which will benefit all of Devon's communities.

The connected rural communities which surround Exeter, already function as part of the city’s
extensive travel-to-work and housing market areas (see Figures 1 and 2). The ties between
these communities, (highlighted in the feedback from our stakeholder engagement work) and
the city will be strengthened by bringing them into a single-tier authority. With an expanded
geography, the unitary authority will be able to plan future growth strategically across a
functional economic area, coordinating delivery of jobs, homes, healthy communities,
infrastructure, skills, nature recovery and climate resilience.

Figure 1: Devon’s Housing Market Areas, according to Devon Housing Commission
(2024)

Excter
% Housing Market Area
&y
4 ;
\\ 3
"™
nwall X B . Torbay
farket Area A » JH... Markot A
o \
\\m .
B ae ("
.

Source: Devon County Council (2024) Devon and Torbay Local Transport Plan 4 2025 — 2040 Consultation
(Oct 2024)

22

Page 36



Figure 2: Travel to work Areas in Devon 2001 and 2011

Travel To Work Areas in Devonin 2001 and 2011

2001

T Barnioe

Okpharmptor

Source: Devon and Torbay Local Transport Plan 4 2025 - 2040 Consultation (Oct 2024)

Exeter has a prosperous and innovative economy and is an unbeatable place to live, work and

visit, which retains its competitive edge to attract investment.

But as a unitary authority, it

could perform even better.

Strong foundations for growth

Exeter has strong economic foundations, and an innovation potential to drive long term
productivity and prosperity for all of Devon’s communities, enabling them to fully participate in
Exeter's economic, social, cultural and civic life. Exeter’'s economic success is based on the
following core strengths:

Demography: Exeter is currently the fastest growing city in the UK, second only to
Cambridge. The total population in 2023 was 137,050, demonstrating a population
increase of 15.2% during 2013-23 (Centre for Cities Outlook Report 2025).

Working Age Population: Reflecting the city’s large student population, Exeter’s age
profile is relatively young. The city has a high proportion of 16 to 24-year-olds: 19.7%
of the city’s population belongs to this age group, which is 9.2% higher than the English
average. The proportion of 16 to 24-year-olds in Exeter has grown by 1.1% since 2011.
Most of the working age population is qualified at Level 4 and above. Exeter has a low
unemployment rate compared to national average (79.4% employment rate).

Economic performance: Exeter's economy is forecast to exceed £5.5bn GVA,
putting it in the top- ten UK cities for economic growth, as identified in the 2024 UK
Powerhouse report. In recent years Exeter has seen an 8% growth in new businesses
with 5,147 registered for business rates; and a 3% growth in jobs.

Clustering of high value sectors: Exeter is home to some important regional clusters
of the fastest growing sectors in the UK, including: Digital Technologies - Exeter is
one of the lead growth locations for hi-tech business, competing globally; Professional
services - Exeter is the 2nd largest centre for legal and engineering services in the
Southwest, with the range and number of services is expected to grow further in the

23

Page 37



next ten years along with Specialised manufacturing; Environmental science;
Advanced engineering, including aerospace and transformative healthcare.

Global leader in climate science: Exeter is the UK's Science City, and a world-
leading centre in climate change research with more IPCC authors than any other city
in the world. The University of Exeter is home to the UK’s top five most influential
climate scientists — the only UK climate scientists to secure places in the global top 21.
There are 18 Exeter-based climate scientists in the global top 1,000 — six from the
University of Exeter, nine from the Met Office, and three with joint-positions with both
institutions.

Education ecosystem: Exeter has a nationally recognised ecosystem of outstanding
education institutions, anchored by the University of Exeter and Exeter College. As
stated above, our Russel Group university provides world class research in
environmental intelligence and climate science, and coupled with the Met Office, which
is also located in the city, uniquely positions Exeter as a global leader in tackling the
climate emergency. The Ofsted Outstanding Exeter College and Exeter Maths School
are delivering excellence and realising the ambitions of our young people from all over
Devon and the wider region.

Connectivity: Exeter and the surrounding area has a strategic role as Devon's
major transport hub which connects the County to the rest of the UK, including an
international airport to the east, two highspeed train lines to London, the Devon Metro,
Devon’s urban railway network which radiates from Exeter city centre and two
junctions to the M5 motorway.

Delivering the Vision for Unitary Councils

The new unitary council for Exeter and the surrounding area would deliver this vision through
strong collaborative working at the neighbourhood, local, regional and national levels:

Neighbourhood level: new neighbourhood partnerships and committees will enable
each community to shape their own futures, achieve their potential and raise living
standards

Local level: New relationships between Devon’s new unitary council’s will be forged,
capitalising on the distinctive and complementary strengths of each area and building
resilience against economic shocks

Regional level: the unitary council would be a key pillar of regional governance,
working closely with the Devon and Torbay Combined County Authority and other
public bodies across Exeter and Devon, strengthening partnerships and playing a
leading role in delivering a vision for the whole region

National level: closer working with government agencies including Homes England,
will establish Devon as a priority place for investment and will become a brilliant
example of how the public sector can unite to promote and accelerate delivery.

Economic Growth Strategy for Exeter

Exeter is the regional connector and gateway to the southwest, a national climate city, a place
where science and innovation thrive, and the cultural hub for Devon. Working collaboratively
with each new unitary authority, the proposed new unitaries will develop an economic growth

24

Page 38



strategy, based on the following nine pillars, and will closely align with the emerging Local
Growth Plan for Devon and Torbay.

1.

Support for high value sectors: The success of Exeter and the surrounding area will
be underpinned through support to the cluster of high-value sectors within the
expanded Exeter area.

Science and Innovation: Harness our nationally and internationally recognised
research and high-tech industries to form part of a broader Southwest innovation spine.
The new unitary council for Exeter and the surrounding area will use this platform to
attract investment, commercialise research, and retain high-level talent.

Driving Investment: The new unitary council for Exeter and the surrounding area
would have the powers and scale to plan and deliver infrastructure, unlock strategic
development, and coordinate with Government and institutional investors to accelerate
economic growth. With control over planning, land assembly, and infrastructure
coordination, the authority would shape investment-ready locations and ensure they
are aligned with wider growth priorities, delivering at pace and scale.

Investing in a Connected and Accessible City Region: The new unitary council for
Exeter and the surrounding area would be able to coordinate employment growth
across the travel to work and study area. This would support more integrated and
sustainable transport planning - working with the Devon and Torbay Combined County
Authority (DT-CCA) to deliver the objectives of the Local Transport Plan. Exeter’s role
as a strategic transport node will be strengthened through coordinated investment in
public transport, active travel, and decarbonised mobility, ensuring high-growth
communities are connected to employment, education and services.

Enabling Strategic Housing delivery: The new unitary council for Exeter and the
surrounding area would bring forward a more coordinated and accountable approach
to housing development, aligning land use planning, infrastructure provision, and
public investment across a functionally connected geography. The unitary council will
enact the recommendations of the Devon Housing Commission and provide leadership
to bring forward a Strategic Housing Plan and, in time, a Spatial Development Strategy
for Devon.

Demonstrate Clean Growth, Climate Resilience and Environmental Stewardship:
The new unitary council for Exeter and the surrounding area would support the
transition to Net Zero through spatial planning, infrastructure coordination, and
environmental stewardship. With direct control over highways, land use, and housing
policy, the council could embed low-carbon design, climate resilience, and nature
recovery into strategic decision-making. It would also simplify coordination with
delivery partners on energy, water, and active travel—ensuring that growth contributes
positively to health, equity, and environmental outcomes across the new geography.
The unitary council would streamline responsibilities for habitat mitigation and bio-
diversity net gain and strengthening delivery of green infrastructure as part of strategic
health and nature-based objectives.

Leading a Thriving Regional Centre: The new unitary council for Exeter and the
surrounding area would continue to invest in Exeter city centre to ensure it remains
vibrant, resilient and attractive for residents, visitors and employers. Building on the
success of regionally significant regeneration schemes, including the development of
Princesshay Shopping Centre and our new Passivhaus leisure centre and swimming
pool at St Sidwell's Point, the unitary authority will work with our partners to attract
nationally significant commercial brands. The council will lead coordinated efforts to

25

Page 39



enhance public realm, support the evening and cultural economy, and ensure the city
centre continues to evolve as a safe place to live, work and visit.

Civic and Cultural Leadership: a unitary council for Exeter and the surrounding area
would be well placed to coordinate cultural investment and strengthen Exeter’s role as
a place where people come together to learn, celebrate, and express shared identity.
Culture, sport, and placemaking will play a key role in supporting wellbeing, attracting
talent, and sustaining a vibrant, inclusive area for future generations.

Developing and Retaining Talent to address the country’s needs: The new unitary
authority for Exeter and the surrounding area would work with education providers,
employers, and the DT-CCA to strengthen skills pathways, promote lifelong learning,
and support workforce development across its geography. Building on Exeter’s strong
education offer and graduate base, the council would help connect local people to
opportunities in high-value sectors—ensuring inclusive access to emerging careers in
climate science, health, digital, and the green economy. Alignment with the Devon and
Torbay Local Skills and Future Workforce Plan would ensure that education and
economic strategies are joined-up, inclusive, and tailored to future demand.

26

Page 40



Why Devon Needs Fundamental Change

Devon, the People, the Place

The County of Devon is a unique place to live and work - where people feel a sense of
connection to their environment and their communities. It's a place with a beautiful natural
landscape offering a high quality of life, undeveloped coastline, undulating green hills,
woodlands, rivers, valleys and estuaries

Our two National Parks of Dartmoor and Exmoor, offer stunning coastlines with the world-
famous Jurassic Coast, Country Parks and Reserves and the North Devon Biosphere. These
all serve as a magnet for tourists. As a large geographic area, Devon is made up of dispersed
populations with three major urban areas — Exeter, Plymouth and Torbay.

Exeter is one of the UK’s fastest-growing cities, playing a pivotal role in driving economic and
housing growth across the wider region. With a youthful, growing population and strong
business and industry sectors, Exeter is well positioned to lead investment, innovation, and
connectivity across Devon. Any local government reorganisation must recognise the economic
importance of Devon’s two major cities — Exeter and Plymouth and the urban area of Torbay
— and ensure that their governance models support sustainable growth for the entire county.

Across Devon, however, there are major challenges such as an ageing rural population
placing huge pressure on public services, significant pockets of deprivation, a lack of
affordable housing, skills gaps, low wages, and the migration of young people out of the rural
areas, demonstrating a need to create more opportunities for them to stay and thrive. The
challenges of rurality can overshadow those within urban centres of Exeter, Plymouth and
Torbay, when Devon is viewed through its rural county lens.

Our proposal for local government reorganisation in Devon will address this by proposing four
unitary authorities that unlocks the potential of our cities while protecting the special character
of our rural and coastal places.

The Case for Change

There are currently 11 local authorities in Devon covering a total population in 2024 of
1,254,506 across 530,181 households (2021 Census) and spanning a geographical area of
6,709 km? or 2,591 square miles.

. Devon County Council;

. Eight District Councils: East Devon District Council; Exeter City Council; Mid Devon
District Council; North Devon District Council, South Hams District Council;
Teignbridge District Council; Torridge District Council and West Devon District Council;
and

. Two Unitary Councils: Plymouth City and Torbay.

27

Page 41



}/ / -—-\,-—R"IVP} {ri’
5 1
~ i )
2 VT3 S
J Nad i %
érf e hﬁw}) \
C b
> S 4
g "
( 1\ {5)
) 6 N
S )
7 }
!
f
LA o8 A
A S\ -/}F
o W 10
R g 9 7
~

WA s

The current two-tier system of local government in Devon is no longer fit for purpose. It
fragments decision-making, duplicates services, and constrains the ability of councils to
respond to the needs of their communities. It also inhibits strategic planning across housing,
transport, and economic development, particularly in high-growth areas like Exeter and
Plymouth.

Why Boundary Modifications are Essential

Our Baseline Proposal for Devon reflects the rural nature of Devon whilst recognising Exeter,
Plymouth and Torbay’s distinctive urban characters. Whilst this provides a workable single tier
of local government for Devon, this is not our final proposal, it is based on existing, historic
council boundaries so it cannot deliver financially or functionally resilient organisations.

Our modified proposal for four unitaries as part of one Devon system does deliver. This
proposes an expanded Exeter, an expanded Plymouth, an expanded Torbay, and a new
Devon Coast & Countryside unitary - four bespoke unitaries aligned to functional economic
areas and working as one delivery system with the Devon and Torbay Combined County
Authority.

Devon has an ageing rural population placing huge pressure on public services, significant
pockets of deprivation, a lack of affordable housing, skills gaps, low wages, and the migration
of young people out of the rural areas. Our proposal is structured to address these challenges
and avoid creating authorities with undue financial advantage or disadvantage, thus ensuring
all areas benefit from appropriately allocated resources and that no community is left behind
as Devon transitions to this new governance framework

The foundations for a successful future cannot be built on our existing administrative
geography; one designed over 50 years ago. Our current district boundaries don’t neatly
aggregate into functional socio-economic areas. It's a geography that bakes in significant
constraints to the future growth and prosperity of the county, locking in inefficiencies and cost
inequalities that could otherwise be released. Nowhere is this more pertinent than with the
current boundaries around the three urban areas that are too tight to facilitate sustainable

28

Page 42



growth and funding. Our proposal therefore requires new boundaries to be drawn, based not
on existing district boundaries but on those of our Parishes.

Our Modified Proposal meets the Government’s criteria more effectively than any other we
have seen. These perpetrate more of the same; they are based on existing district boundaries
and do not address Devon’s challenges. Our modified proposal recognises the significant and
impactive roles of Exeter, Plymouth and Torbay. These are drivers of economic growth and,
together with the proposed new Coast and Countryside unitary, create the opportunity to
realise our vision and so benefit the whole of Devon.

We believe our Modified Proposal achieves the right balance between financial viability,
population size and geographical span to enable the proposed unitary councils to focus on the
unique needs of specific rural, urban and coastal communities, sustaining community identity
and cohesiveness. Our Modified Proposal provides a coherent infrastructure to support the
creation of a Strategic Mayoral Authority able to represent the diverse needs of the whole
county of Devon.

29

Page 43



Our Baseline Proposal for Local Government in
Devon

We recognise the requirement under the Local Government & Public Involvement in
Health Act 2007 to base a proposal on district council building blocks, and this is our
Baseline Proposal. This Baseline Proposal meets the requirements under the 2007 Act.
It is however not the final proposal that we are submitting. Our substantive Modified
Proposal, which requests ministerial modification, is set out later.

Our Baseline Proposal reflects the rural nature of Devon and champion’s the distinctive urban
character of Exeter, Plymouth and Torbay. It meets the requirements of the Local Government
and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and compares favourably with the Governments’
six criteria set out in the “English Devolution White Paper: Power and Partnerships:
Foundation for Growth”.

This provides a workable single tier of local government for Devon, but it is not financially
viable, nor does it address the growth potential of our cities which is currently hampered by
historical boundaries.

The councils in our Baseline Proposal are:

A new unitary council for Exeter on existing boundaries

A continuing unitary council for Plymouth on existing boundaries

A continuing unitary council for Torbay on existing boundaries

A new unitary council for Devon Coast and Countryside Council (based on
existing district boundaries)

Map: Four Unitary Councils on existing district boundaries

Key:
New Unitary Council for Exeter (Red) National Park and Areas of Outstanding Natural
Existing Plymouth Authority (Dark Green) Beauty (Green Hatch)
Existing Torbay Authority (Blue) National Marine Park (Blue Hatch)

30

Page 44




New Devon Coast and Countryside Unitary (Light

Green)

Baseline Four Unitary Proposal

Unitary A: A new Exeter
Unitary on existing
boundaries

(Type B proposal)

A new unitary council based on the current Exeter City Council
boundary with a population of 138,399

Unitary B: Plymouth City
Council (As a continuing
authority)

The continuing unitary authority of Plymouth City Council with a
population of 272,067

Unitary C: Torbay Council
(As a continuing authority)

The continuing unitary authority of Torbay Council with
population of 140,126

Unitary D: Devon Coast
and Countryside Council
(Type B proposal)

A new a new unitary council covering the rest of the current
Devon County Council area, with a population of 703,914

Our Modified Proposal meets the Government’s six criteria more effectively because it is
financially viable and better aligned with the functional economic geographies of Devon

It recognises the significant and impactive roles of Devon’s Capital City Exeter; the City of
Plymouth and the urban area of Torbay as drivers of economic growth and outlines the
opportunity that would benefit the whole of Devon.

Our Modified Proposal also responds to the feedback from our extensive stakeholder
engagement work; better reflects how people live their lives; reinforces the importance of
sustainability, whilst embracing a highly valued sense of place and community cohesiveness.

31

Page 45




Our Modified Proposal for Devon: Four Unitary
Councils

This section sets out the Modified Proposal that we are asking government to consider.
The proposal is a modification of our Baseline Proposal, based on whole districts in
accordance with Section 2 of the Local Government and Local Involvement in Health
Act 2007.

Our Modified Proposal sets out a bold and evidence-led vision for change; the creation of four
new unitary councils that reflect Devon’s functional economic geographies and community
identities:

A new unitary council for Exeter and the surrounding area

A unitary council for Plymouth on an expanded boundary

A unitary council for Torbay on an expanded boundary

A new unitary council for Devon Coast and Countryside Council

This model will unlock the potential of Devon’s cities and urban areas while protecting the
character and resilience of its rural and coastal communities.

Our proposal establishes a single tier of local government that reflects the natural economic
geography and functional relationships of Devon. We embrace the opportunity to reorganise
local government in Devon into natural communities and cohesive localities that present clear
opportunities to improve outcomes for all residents across Devon

Map: Four Unitary Councils on modified boundaries.

Key:
New Unitary Council for Expanded Exeter (Red) National Park and Areas of Outstanding Natural
New Unitary for Expanded Plymouth (Dark Green) Beauty (Green Hatch)
New Unitary for Expanded Torbay (Blue) National Marine Park (Blue Hatch)
New Devon Coast and Countryside Unitary (Light
Green)

32

Page 46



The Modified proposal groups existing principal authorities into four unitary councils with
changes to existing districts summarised in the table below.

Modified Four Unitary Proposal

Unitary A: An expanded
Exeter Council (Type B
proposal)

A new unitary council based on the current Exeter City Council
boundary with a population of 138,399 with a Ministerial
modification to extend this with 15 parishes from within
Teignbridge District Council, 28 parishes from within East Devon
District Council and six parishes from within Mid Devon District
Council resulting in a population of 260,195

Unitary B: An expanded
Plymouth City Council (As a
continuing authority)

The continuing unitary Authority of Plymouth City Council with a
population of 272,067 with a Ministerial modification, to extend
this with 13 parishes from within the South Hams District Council
resulting in a population of 305,731

Unitary C: An expanded
Torbay Council (As a
continuing authority)

The continuing Authority of Torbay Council with_population of
140,126, with a Ministerial modification, extend this with 23
parishes from within the Teignbridge District Council and South
Hams District Council resulting in a population of 232,697

Unitary D: Devon Coast
and Countryside Council
(Type B proposal)

A new a new unitary council covering the rest of the current
Devon County Council area with a population of 455,883

Our proposal meets the Government’s six criteria:

1. Single tier of local government for the area
Right size to achieve efficiencies, improve capacity & withstand financial

shocks

W

Prioritise the delivery of high quality & sustainable public services to citizens
Councils in the area have sought to work together in coming to a view that

meets local needs & is informed by local views

oo

Must support devolution
Enable stronger community to engagement & deliver genuine opportunity for

neighbourhood empowerment.

Our proposal has also been built on six principles which we have developed and shared with
key partners in the Exeter Partnership. Responding to the first of the government’s criteria for
unitary government, the establishment of a single tier of local government, these principles
reflect what we believe are the most important considerations in reorganisation for Devon.

ok wh =~

Supporting growth, housing, transport and connectivity
Addressing the different needs of urban and rural communities
Making public services easier to access and navigate
Strengthening local identity, place and community voice

Creating a balanced and coherent population and service footprint
Ensuring financial sustainability and value for taxpayers.

These principles align with the criteria set by Government but include an additional focus on
growth and addressing urban and rural issues.

33

Page 47




Rationale for our Modified Four Unitary Proposal

Maintaining existing historic boundaries continues to constrain the growth of Devon’s two
major cities of Exeter and Plymouth and urban area of Torbay. A shift to a single tier of local
government with expanded geographies for the cities of Exeter and Plymouth and Torbay,
alongside a Coast and Countryside authority simplifies accountability, improves services, and
keeps costs under control, while protecting local identity and giving the strategic tier a clear
partner for transport, planning and skills.

Our proposal meets the Government’s criteria more effectively than the Baseline Proposal
because it better aligns with the functional economic geographies of Devon and provides a
balanced tier of local government for Devon. It responds to the feedback from our extensive
stakeholder engagement work; better reflects how people live their lives; reinforces the
importance of sustainability, whilst embracing a highly valued sense of place and community
cohesiveness

The challenges of tackling this in the short-term are vastly outweighed by the aggregation of
gains over the medium to long-term, which will positively impact future generations. It is on
this basis that we invite the Secretary of State to use the powers in Section 11 of the 2007 Act
to modify our Baseline Proposal to achieve better outcomes for the whole of Devon

Unitary A: An Expanded Exeter

Plymouth and Torbay, as existing unitary councils have already demonstrated the benefits
that urban unitaries can bring to their communities. Devon needs a similar focus for Exeter,
which as a flourishing city, is well placed to accelerate growth for all of Devon.

Connectivity is vital for economic growth, and Exeter is in a pivotal place within Devon, with
strong transport links across the South West and to London to exploit. With a strong base of
business startups and world leading knowledge, health and climate science sectors, Exeter
lies at the heart of a major transport corridor connecting the region to the wider UK. Young
people and families are attracted to the city due to its accessibility, education, employment
and lifestyle opportunities, but current boundaries inhibit housing growth.

Consequently, Exeter is a young, vibrant, and increasingly successful city. Many businesses,
public sector partners; voluntary and community sector organisations and communities are
active participants in the city’s success, which brings with it a strong sense of pride in place
reflected in feedback from the extensive stakeholder engagement work undertaken in relation
to local government reorganisation.

Our proposal reflects the housing and economic growth of the areas surrounding the city’s
current boundary and identifies a realistic, functional economic and geographical area within
which people look to the city for work, education, access to public services, leisure and cultural
opportunities.

A unitary council for Exeter and the surrounding area will bring resilience and strengthen the
region against economic shocks.

The following 49 Parishes are included in our modification:

Ashcombe, Aylesbeare, Bicton, Brampford Speke, Broadclyst, Budleigh Salterton, Cheriton
Bishop, Chudleigh, Clyst Honiton, Clyst Hydon, Clyst St. Lawrence, Clyst St. George, Clyst
St. Mary, Colaton Raleigh, Colebrooke, Cranbrook, Crediton, Crediton Hamlets, Dawlish,
Dunchideock, East Budleigh, Exminster, Exmouth, Farringdon, Hittisleigh, Holcombe Burnell,
Huxham, Ide, Kenn, Kenton, Lympstone, Mamhead, Netherexe, Newton St. Cyres, Otterton,

34

Page 48



Poltimore, Powderham, Rewe, Rockbeare, Shillingford St. George, Sowton, Starcross, Stoke
Canon, Tedburn St. Mary, Upton Pyne, West Hill, Whimple, Whitestone and Woodbury.

Unitary B: An Expanded Plymouth

The creation of an expanded unitary authority for Plymouth which builds upon Plymouth’s
innovative strategic planning approach through the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint
Local Plan, already demonstrates successful collaboration across Plymouth and the
communities of South Hams.

The expanded council for Plymouth will deliver integrated and effective local governance to
the people of Plymouth and the surrounding area that already naturally function as part of the
Plymouth housing and economic area.

An expanded Plymouth includes 13 adjacent parishes:

Bickleigh, Brixton, Cornwood, Ermington, Harford, Holberton, Ivybridge, Newton and Noss,
Shaugh Prior, Sparkwell, Ugborough, Wembury, Yealmpton

Unitary C: An Expanded Torbay

Our proposal creates an expanded unitary authority for Torbay which provides a more
coherent geography and better coordination of critical infrastructure in the wider area. It
reflects travel to work areas and creates the ability to focus on coastal renewal and the roll out
of its existing innovative approach to health and social care within a wider catchment area.

An expanded Torbay Unitary would include 21 surrounding parishes:

Abbotskerswell, Berry Pomeroy, Bishopsteignton, Brixham, Broadhempston, Coffinswell,
Denbury and Torbryan, Haccombe with Combe, Ideford, Ipplepen, Kingskerswell,
Kingsteignton, Kingswear, Littlehempston, Marldon, Newton Abbot, Ogwell, Shaldon, Stoke
Gabriel, Stokeinteignhead, Teigngrace and Teignmouth.

Unitary D: Devon Coast & Countryside

Our proposal creates a rural focused council which reflects the dispersed settlement pattern
in Devon and keeps the market towns and most rural areas together at a suitable scale.

Creating a dedicated Devon Coast and Countryside unitary authority ensures that Devon’s
rural and coastal communities receive governance tailored to their unique needs, able to focus
on rural challenges rather than urban assumptions.

By complementing urban-focused councils for Exeter, Plymouth, and Torbay, the Coast and
Countryside authority provides coherent planning for housing, transport, and economic
growth, ensuring that rural priorities are not overshadowed. This approach creates simpler,
stronger governance that delivers high-quality, locally responsive services and safeguards the
character of Devon’s countryside for future generations.

Supporting growth, housing, transport and connectivity
35

Page 49



Our proposal reflects Devon’s geography and ways of life — three coherent economic areas
aligned to key transport and economic corridors, and one coherent rural and coastal authority.

It promotes the opportunity for accelerated housing and economic growth; it reflects travel to
work and housing market areas and creates the opportunity for public services to be provided
in ways that better meet the distinctly unique needs of the urban, rural and coastal
communities that we serve. Ciritically, it also responds to the feedback from our extensive
stakeholder engagement work; better reflects how people live their lives; reinforces the
importance of sustainability, whilst embracing a highly valued sense of place and community
cohesiveness

Creating these four unitary councils for Devon will support the economies of our distinctive
market towns and rural/coastal communities and drive continued growth of Devon’s two major
cities of Exeter and Plymouth, and the urban area of Torbay. The economic importance of
Exeter, Plymouth and Torbay and their unique, yet complementary roles drive sustainable
growth for the entire county.

Addressing the different needs of urban and rural communities

By creating councils that are focused on the needs and challenges of their places and aligned
with the functional economic geography of the county, we are putting in place firm
foundations for the future. Councils can balance future growth, development, conservation,
engagement, collaboration and service delivery across geographies that make sense for
local people, businesses and communities and the way they lead their lives. The new
councils would work alongside the Devon & Torbay Combined County Authority, ensuring
coherence between local delivery and strategic priorities for growth, skills, transport, and
climate action meeting the needs of the whole of Devon.

Exeter, Plymouth and Torbay, will lead on urban priorities while the new Devon Coast and
Countryside authority can focus on the distinct needs of dispersed, market towns and villages.
It demonstrates how tailored governance can better meet distinct local needs and can deliver
achievable service and organisational savings within three years. Our Modified Proposal is a
locally developed, future-ready solution that delivers best value for residents and places
Devon on a firmer financial footing.

Strengthening local identity, place and community voice

The modified proposal identifies councils on a geographical basis that people recognise.
Parishes and towns are kept whole, with no principal settlement split. Town and Parish
councils remain as critical community institutions enhanced by Neighboured Area
Committees. This ensures local voices are enhanced, while councils have sufficient scale to
carry complex services sustainably. By keeping parishes and towns intact, the Modified
Proposal preserves local identity and accountability. This arrangement reflects the feedback
from our extensive public engagement, it balances what matters most: resilient councils that
can run accessible and effective services, neighbourhoods that retain a clear voice, and a
county-wide structure that provides a credible foundation for devolution.

Creating a balanced and coherent population and service footprint

Our proposal reflects Devon’s geography and ways of life — three coherent economic areas
aligned to key transport and economic corridors, and one coherent rural and coastal authority.

36

Page 50



It provides a credible single tiered local government solution to Devon's unique mix of coastal,
urban and dispersed communities.

Exeter, Plymouth and Torbay, as urban areas, have dense populations and clear identities
and are service centres for the surrounding rural and coastal communities. These centres
provide opportunities for economic growth, housing, education and employment as well as
access to public services, sports, leisure and cultural facilities that can only be provided on
this scale.

Using the existing Devon and Torbay Combined County Authority (DTCCA) as a strong first
step, our Modified Proposal provides sensible population ratio sizes between constituent
authorities as we move to a Mayoral Strategic Authority (MSA). We see the future MSA as the
key to unlocking the power of combining localism with regional scale for both the Modified four
Unitary Proposal and the wider peninsula.

Ensuring financial sustainability and value for taxpayers.

Our proposal ensures each unitary council has a balanced and sustainable tax base, avoiding
undue advantage or disadvantage for any area whilst retaining Devon’s sense of place in both
rural and urban areas. This matters because Devon’s fair tax base supports financial
resilience and equitable service delivery. It avoids fiscal imbalance that could lead to service
cuts or unequal investment because each unitary is designed to have sufficient revenue
capacity to meet local needs without over-reliance on central government support.

Request for Ministerial Modification to Baseline Proposal

We request that the Secretary of State modifies the statutory Baseline Proposal outlined,
incorporating the boundary refinements detailed in the Modified Proposal.

These adjustments more effectively meet the Government’s criteria by enhancing the
coherence of public services, strengthening financial sustainability, supporting local identities,
and achieving the right balance of partners for devolution.

This is in accordance with the Government criteria and guidance received from MHCLG on 3
September 2025. The guidance from MHCLG states:

Submissions must be a single, clear proposal with base case based on existing boundaries
and modifications justified. Examples on when councils may wish to consider a proposal with
modified boundaries include where existing boundaries would not meet the criteria or changes
to boundaries would better meet the criteria.

Please refer to Appendix 7 MHCLG Meeting Note 3 Sep 2025

37

Page 51




How our Four Unitary Model Delivers

Our Modified Proposal for Devon strikes the right balance to make the most of the once in the
generation opportunity to create local government for Devon that is firmly:

o Rooted in place and delivering better outcomes - focussed on distinct places and
able to better manage resources, attract investment and delivery value for money.

o Based on real places and economies - functional geographies that support growth
and accountability

¢ Built on fair, sustainable finances - based on a fair and balanced tax base to support
financial resilience and aligned governance

o Wrapped around communities — giving them a real voice in decisions through local
neighbourhood committees and stronger democratic representation

¢ Protecting our environment - from our coasts to cities, towns and villages, to our
countryside

o Providing simpler, smarter, public services that work better for people — reducing
duplication and complexity, delivering better decision making and improved customer
experiences

e Practical, phased and ready to deliver - ensuring a logical flow into effective new
authorities, with shared strategic need and value placed on working together.

The right option for Devon

The configurations of the four unitary councils in the Modified Proposal sensibly reflects
Devon’s geography and ways of life - three coherent economic areas aligned to key corridors
and one coherent rural-coastal authority. It provides a credible single tiered local government
solution to Devon's unique mix of coastal, urban and rural communities. These functional
areas avoid the remoteness of an oversized local authority and the cost and fragility of multiple
smaller authorities.

This Devon-wide structure ensures coherent and strategic planning for growth, housing, and
infrastructure across urban and rural contexts. The model leverages the unique economic
identities, strengths, and connectivity of each area, enabling sustainable development and
maximising the impact of Devon’s resources.

Our Modified Proposal reflects the distinct profiles of our areas. It avoids unnecessary
fragmentation by building on the proven track record of existing unitary councils serving
Plymouth and Torbay, while ensuring that the new unitary councils are operationally viable. It
equitably distributes resources aligned to an even distribution of demand, with the aim of
consistent services for all Devon residents.

Simply put - the Modified Four Unitary Proposal reflects the needs of people across all of
Devon. Its configuration is built around the principle that local government should be able to

respond flexibly to where need and demand for services is highest. For Devon this involves
key focuses on adult social care, children’s services, housing, economic regeneration and

38

Page 52



public health with bespoke planning and delivery designed around the needs of distinct
communities and places.

The modified proposal reflects the distinct profiles of the four areas in relation to service
delivery against need. It supports a more tailored service model which is responsive to the
urban contexts of Exeter, Plymouth and Torbay and the rural context of Devon. Local
government reorganisation presents a unique opportunity to design a system that reflects
Devon’s four functional economic geographies and will allow them to thrive. By aligning and
streamlining existing governance, the new unitary authorities will be empowered to deliver for
their communities—accelerating housing delivery, improving infrastructure outcomes, and
driving inclusive economic growth across the county.

In recognising the unique economic identities and governance needs of each geographical
area, this model enables strategic planning across housing, infrastructure, and skills, while
maintaining local responsiveness.

Each unitary authority will be equipped to lead on place-based investment and service
integration, ensuring that urban centres like, Exeter, Plymouth and Torbay can drive innovation
and productivity, while rural Devon benefits from tailored solutions to its distinct rural
challenges. This structure avoids the risks of economic incoherence and diluted accountability
that can arise from broader, less differentiated models or a one size fits all.

Geography

The Modified Proposal reflects functional economic areas, travel-to-work zones, and
community identities, avoiding artificial boundaries that fragment service delivery.

This is important because sensible geography ensures that planning, housing, transport, and
economic development are aligned with how people live and work. This avoids fragmented
governance that hinders housing delivery because it allows councils to plan across coherent
housing markets and infrastructure corridors, rather than negotiating across disconnected
jurisdictions.

Local Identity

Our Modified Proposal supports strong local identity. It critically maintains the current role of
Town and Parish Councils and looks to enhance democratic accountability through the
creation of Neighbourhood Area Committees and the extension of community focussed place-
based governance. Exeter sees 37,000 commuters daily: where residents’ shop, work, study,
swim, or walk and sense of place isn’t defined by where their council tax is collected, and this
proposal sets to address that.

This matters because the Modified Proposal creates four local authorities that best reflect the
lives of the communities they serve. It avoids the democratic disconnect of larger, remote
councils because each unitary is sized to maintain meaningful engagement with residents,
enabling decisions to be made by councils that understand local priorities and contexts and
how people live their lives.

Resilience
The Modified Proposal has been designed to balance operational scale with local

responsiveness, ensuring the new councils are large enough to be efficient but small enough
to remain visible and accountable.

39

Page 53



It responds to a growing body of evidence that clearly demonstrates that running public
services at ever larger scales, does not make them more efficient or cost effective. In fact, it
can be argued that the larger the council is, the less they are connected to and understand the
distinct needs of the different communities they serve. This lack of insight into people’s lives-
what their lives are like, what they would like for their local areas, families and communities
makes it impossible to address the root causes of demand for public services.

Smaller councils are more impactive as they avoid the fragility of fragmented governance and
the remoteness of mega-councils because each unitary is designed, rather than inherited, to
deliver services efficiently, withstand financial shocks, and maintain a clear connection to the
communities they serve. It builds on the proven track record of the two unitary authorities, the
trace record, significant and consistent growth and ambition of Exeter, and the possibility to
deliver a fit for purpose rural unitary authority that drives efficiencies and responsiveness from
the outset.

Preserves and Amplifies Our Identities

Plymouth and Torbay retain their distinct urban profiles - Britain’s Ocean City and the English
Riviera - whilst the region’s historic capital city of Exeter, and one of the fastest growing cities
in the country, is elevated through boundary expansion to reflect its growing strategic role.
This configuration allows each urban centre to pursue tailored strategies that reflect local
culture, economic strengths, and service needs. The creation of the new rural authority
complements this by enabling focused governance across Devon’s dispersed communities,
market towns, and coastal villages, ensuring that rural priorities are not overshadowed by
urban agendas.

Preserving urban identities and establishing a dedicated rural authority ensures that
governance is responsive to the unique characteristics of both urban and rural areas. It avoids
the dilution of civic identity and strategic focus because each unitary council can maintain
direct accountability to its residents, promote its economic and cultural assets, and deliver
services that are locally relevant. The proposition represents a Devon solution for the unique
makeup of the county. The Modified Proposal strengthens place-based leadership, supports
inclusive growth, and ensures that no community - urban, coastal or rural - is left behind in the
reorganisation.

High Quality Sustainable Public Services: Local Service Delivery

Under the Modified Proposal each authority will focus on its own demographic and service
pressures whilst sharing and collaborating on key issues and services where this is a fiscal or
rational demand. For example, Torbay and Plymouth will continue to directly address urban
deprivation, health inequalities, and ageing populations through measures such as integrated
care models and targeted regeneration. In Exeter, the new authority would be uniquely
positioned to respond to the city’s rapid population growth and its role as a regional economic
powerhouse; better able to respond to the housing and lifestyle needs of its younger, growing
population. Rural Devon will be able to focus on the needs of dispersed communities and of
an aging rural demographic.

Services that are failing to improve people’s lives are not efficient, even if they cost less to
deliver. There is clear evidence that focusing on a scale of place that people identify with,
enabling community power, and investing in preventative, relational, and asset-based ways of
working, all have the potential to improve outcomes as well as enabling better use of resources
and sustainable cost reductions for the long term. Closer collaboration with communities and
with local partners, systems leadership, developing new capabilities across the workforce, and
local government taking on the role of enabler and place shaper, are all key ingredients and
form the bedrock to our Modified Proposal.

40

Page 54



This matters because targeted service delivery ensures that councils can respond effectively
to the distinct challenges and opportunities within their areas. It avoids the inefficiencies and
mismatches of one-size-fits-all governance because each authority can design and deliver
services that reflect local demographics, economic conditions, and community expectations.
This leads to better outcomes for residents, more efficient use of public resources, and
stronger accountability to local priorities.

Economic Growth

Under our modified proposal, Exeter, Plymouth and Torbay will continue to develop as
prosperous and innovative economies, retaining their competitive edge to attract new
investment. As each urban economy becomes more successful, the benefits will extend to
settlements across their travel to work areas, raising quality and local pride in each community.
Exeter, Plymouth and Torbay will be agile and innovative. Economic growth will be clean,
inclusive and resilient, local supply chains will be stronger, supporting businesses and social
enterprises and keeping more money within the local economy. All residents will have access
to world-class education and training, and meaningful, high-quality employment with fair
wages. The life-changing benefits of access to and participation in arts, culture and physical
activity will be realised. Employers will be able to recruit, nurture and retain a skilled local
workforce as well as attracting the best global talent.

Housing Delivery

Our Modified proposal provides greater flexibility to accommodate needs in appropriate
locations driven by the central influence of Exeter, Plymouth and Torbay together with the
market and coastal towns and more rural areas. Working in a more cohesive way across a
wider geography will improve efficiency and speed up delivery.

The new unitary councils would establish a more integrated and strategically aligned Local
Planning Authorities, encompassing a functionally connected areas. New unitary Local Plans,
will be the key tool to align housing delivery with infrastructure and service provision,
streamlining decisions and improving delivery certainty. These new plans would eventually
replace the fragmented patchwork of local plans and joint plans, aligning housing,
employment, infrastructure, economic development, transport, Net-Zero, and environmental
management functions across a wider geography, supporting coherent spatial planning and
delivery of new homes.

Each unitary authority would retain the capacity to specialise across both urban and rural
contexts, ensuring the diversity of planning needs across the new geography is understood
and addressed. Strategic oversight would improve land supply planning, compliance with the
Housing Delivery Test, five-year supply maintenance and Development Management.

Financial resilience: ensuring a fair and sustainable tax base

In the Modified Proposal each unitary council has a balanced and sustainable tax base,
avoiding undue advantage or disadvantage for any area whilst retaining Devon’s sense of
place in both rural and urban areas. This matters because Devon’s fair tax base supports
financial resilience and equitable service delivery. It avoids fiscal imbalance that could lead to
service cuts or unequal investment because each unitary is designed to have sufficient
revenue capacity to meet local needs without over-reliance on central government support.

It has been specifically designed to align with the distinct needs of Devon’s communities.
Senior Finance Officers from Devon’s two current unitary authorities have collaborated closely
with their counterpart in Exeter and sought input from independent financial consultants. This

41

Page 55



partnership has ensured that financial assessments are robust and representative of coherent
economic areas, thereby supporting the establishment of a suitable and balanced tax base
across the four new authorities.

Financial Viability Model

Using expenditure data from 2025-26 and funding projections (at 2025-26 prices) based on
the new funding formula provided by Pixel Financial Management, the model demonstrates
viability across the board with each Council having sufficient funding to deliver existing service
demand and service debt and other financial obligations.

Devon Coast | Exeter & | Plymouth & | Torbay &

& Countryside| Parishes | Parishes Parishes
£m £m £m £m
Net Cost of Services 503.5 316.4 338.4 276.8
Total Core Spending Power Funding 511.3 321.0 341.2 279.6
Viability surplus / (gap) 1.7 4.6 2.8 2.8
1.5% 1.4% 0.8% 1.0%

Disaggregation Costs and Savings

It is recognised that an additional upper tier Council will require additional costs arising from
disaggregation of upper tier services. These have been built into the financial model along
with savings derived from merging lower tier services, harmonising service provision at a
lower tier level and harmonising income levels in lower tier services.

Estimated cost /
(saving) (Em)

Service disaggregation costs 13.5

Projected Savings (71.9)

TOTAL NET MODELLED ANNUAL SAVING (58.4)
42

Page 56



Transitional Costs

Transitional Costs will fall predominantly on the Exeter & Parishes and Devon Coast and
Countryside as the two existing unitaries largely have systems in place which can
accommodate the additional area and services provided.

Estimated cost - £m
Cost category
Year -1 Year 0 Year 1 Year 2 TOTAL
(2026/27) |(2027/28) |(2028/29) |(2029/30)
Exeter & Parishes / Devon
Coast & Countryside 4.6 22.4 20.1 7.9 55.0
Plymouth & Parishes 0.4 2.2 2.1 0.2 4.9
Torbay & Parishes 0.8 3.1 5.1 1.2 10.2
TOTAL 5.8 27.7 27.3 9.3 70.1

Funding Transitional Costs

Analysis by LG Inform demonstrates the level of usable balances (revenue and capital) based
on the proposed new boundaries of the Councils. The analysis demonstrates that there are
sufficient reserves available to manage transition costs. This includes any transition costs that
fall on the Housing Revenue Account (HRA). However, it is acknowledged that many of these

reserves may be held for a specific purpose and therefore unusable in this context.

Both

Plymouth and Torbay have confirmed that they have sufficient reserves to manage the
transition costs within their proposals and Exeter have a significant pipeline of capital receipts
in progress to manage the transition costs that fall on the new Council.

Devon Coast | Exeter & | Plymouth & | Torbay &
& Countryside| Parishes | Parishes Parishes
£m £m £m £m
General Fund (GF) Usable Revenue 166.546 88.521 82.607 100.152
Reserves
GF Usable Capital Reserves 65.913 65.867 52.803 52.803
HRA Reserves 20.3 14.6 0 0
Payback

Payback is projected within three years, with the opportunity to reinvest future savings in
enhanced service delivery. No assessment of service transformation savings has been made
for upper tier services although there is the potential for service improvements to deliver

additional savings.

Page 57

Year -1 Year 0 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4
Proposal (Em) (2026/27) ((2027/28) |(2028/29) |(2029/30) |(2030/31) |(2031/32)
Transition costs 5.8 27.7 27.3 9.3 0.0 0.0
Savings in each year 0.0 0.0 (4.9) (29.7) (54.8) (58.4)
Incremental Net
Impact 5.8 27.7 22.4 (20.4) (54.8) (58.4)
Cumulative Impact 5.8 33.5 55.9 35.6 (19.2) (77.6)

43




Detailed Options Appraisal of our Modified

Proposal

The table below provides an options appraisal of our Modified Proposal for four unitaries in
which Torbay Council and Plymouth City Council would continue as unitary authorities with

expanded boundaries.

The councils in our Modified Proposal include:
e A new unitary council for Exeter and the surrounding area
e A unitary council for Plymouth on an expanded boundary
e A unitary council for Torbay on an expanded boundary
¢ A new unitary council for Devon Coast and Countryside Council

Populations’:

Plymouth population: 300,727 (24%)
Torbay population: 220,205 (18%)
Exeter population: 256,422 (21%)
Devon population: 445,226 (37%)

Option One: Appraisal against six criteria

Government Citeria

Unitaries |Rationale

1.Single tier of local
government

Creates a single tier of local government in Devon,
removing the existing two-tier arrangements.

Reflects the true nature of place. Aligns with functional
economic areas and housing market areas reflecting the
true nature of Devon enabling the planning, investment
and infrastructure decisions to be made coherently
across the wider area.

2.Right size and
financial resilience

The expansion of Plymouth, Torbay and Exeter
provides the planning capacity for sustainable growth -
critically absent in the Base Case- unlocking the regions
potential.

Reduction of the number of councils from 11 to 4 delivers
efficiency savings through the rationalisation of senior
roles and governance and consolidation of systems and
estates.

Delivering essential services on specific needs of urban
and rural communities creates opportunities to address
higher unit costs in the current county area.

Tax base of each authority is sustainable and large
enough to resist financial shocks.

Creates nationally significant, growth orientated unitary
councils with balanced populations.

" Populations calculated using Mid-2022 ONS Output Area level data

44

Page 58




3.High quality &
sustainable public
services

4.Collaboration and
responsiveness

Creates a coherent service geography

for school admissions, transport, skills,

and social care.

Maximises opportunities for growth and simplifies
residents' access to services.

Establishment of single tier local government removes
duplication and confusion of service delivery.

Maximises opportunities to maintain service continuity
especially in the areas of SEND and children and adults’
social care yet also offers a catalyst for much needed
change.

Creates opportunity to design services around the specific
needs of urban and rural populations

Creates coherent service geography based on a new
localised, place-based model in either urban or rural
areas.

Reduces administrative duplication. Provides significant
service transformation opportunities.

Enables strategic planning to be better coordinated within
the Mayoral Strategic Authority.

Energies strategic relationships with NHS

5.Supports
devolution

A Four Unitary Model is supported by

two existing unitary authorities and

Exeter City Council.

Provides for recognised and legally

coherent administrative boundaries

which reflect settlement patterns and

functional economic relationships

Extensions based on building blocks of

Parish and Town Councils.

Builds on existing good partnerships and relationships
with the voluntary, community and social enterprise
sector, business and the wider public sector.

6.Community
engagement and
neighbourhood
empowerment

Creates a group of balanced constituent

authorities to link into a Mayoral Strategic Authority,
allowing retained expertise to support a regional

Strategy. There would be equality of population size ratios
between constituent authorities of the new Mayoral
Strategic Authority.

Responds to extensive stakeholder feedback. New
neighbourhood governance arrangements to be
developed.

Maintains a foundation of existing governance
arrangements in each of the unitary authorities enabling a
transition to the new arrangements set out in the English
Devolution and Community Empowerment Bill being
enacted.

Enables a Local Government Boundary Commission
review of ward boundaries to be undertaken after Vesting
Day.

Protects existing parish and town council arrangements.
Enables existing partnerships to form the basis of
Neighbourhood Networks, ensuring further community
empowerment.

45

Page 59



Criteria 1: Single tier of local government for the area

Devon Plymouth | Torbay | Exeter Range
Population 445,226 300,727 220,205 | 256,422
Projected population growth to 2040 114% 105% 110% 114%
Council Tax band D average 2,014 1,965 1,983 2,001
Council Tax band D maximum 2,071 1,998 2,004 2,040
Council Tax base 182,395 90,449 82,356 | 88,493
Council Tax Base per unit of population 2.44 3.32 2.67 2.90 0.79
Council Tax income per unit of population | 825 591 742 690

Criteria 2: Right size to achieve efficiencies, improve capacity & withstand financial

shocks.

Devon Plymouth Torbay | Exeter | Range
Grant funding per unit of population 323 544 528 562 239
Non-earmarked reserves 9.625m -59.326m 8.363m | 9.159m
Non-earmarked reserves per unit of 22 -197 38 36 -235.25
population
Ratio of financing costs to net revenue 4% 7% 8% 6% 4%
Total funding/resources 26/7 per head 1,275.76 1,242.54 1,404.24 | 1,314.72

Estimated savings from people services
(Newton model)

RAG ranking of potential set up costs

Summary Assessment

This is the preferred option as it meets all Government criteria. It establishes four balanced
and financially resilient authorities with populations ranging from approx. 220,000 to
450,000. The structure respects community identities, creates a clear distinction between
urban and rural areas, and enables strategic capacity for growth and devolution.

The configuration succeeds because:

¢ Plymouth gains strategic capacity with a population of 300,727 while maintaining its

urban character.

e An expanded Torbay solidifies financial sustainability through a 67% increase in its

tax base.

¢ An expanded Exeter can accommodate city-region growth with a balanced urban and

suburban character.

o Devon Coast and Countryside will be a viable authority scaled appropriately for

effective rural service delivery.
An Extended Plymouth

Key Statistics

Under this option, the Plymouth authority would have a population of approx. 300,000 across
an expanded area of 358.7 km?, resulting in a new population density of approx. 830 people
per square kilometre. Its responsibilities would cover a council tax base of 90,449 Band D
equivalent properties and a road network of 1,800 km.

46

Page 60



Compared to the Base Case, this represents a significant change in scale with a population
increase of approx. 30,000 (+12.4%); a geographical increase of 278.8 km? (+349%). There
would be an increase of 13,891 Band D equivalent properties (+18.15%) and a population
density decrease from 3,311 to 830 people/km?

Demographic Profile

Children (0-15 years) 17.3%
Working age (16-64 years) 63.5%
Older people (65+ years) 19.2%
Home ownership rate 59.5%

Under this option, Plymouth maintains its young demographic profile. The proportion of
children remains stable at 17.3%, and the working-age population is strong at 63.5%.
Although the older population (19.2%) and home ownership (59.5%) increase slightly due to
the new extension areas, these figures remain well below those of neighbouring authorities.
The key outcome is that this expansion adds valuable capacity without changing Plymouth's
core character as a young, working-age city.

Indices of Deprivation

Domain Decile

Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD)

Income Deprivation

Employment Deprivation

Education, Skills and Training

Health Deprivation and Disability

Crime

Barriers to Housing and Services

Living Environment

Income Deprivation Affecting Children (IDACI)

Income Deprivation Affecting Older People (IDAOPI)
Where 1 equals most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output Areas, 10 equals least deprived 10%

QOO WwWwohsos

Key challenges persist, health deprivation remains high at decile 3, requiring a continued focus
on inequalities. While child poverty improves marginally (from IDACI 4 to 5), the level of need
is still substantial. The crucial advantage of this model is that the enhanced population and tax
base provide greater capacity to address these long-standing issues.

Service Implications

A population increase from 270,000 to over 300,000 expands the authority's service base
while maintaining its core deprivation profile (IMD decile 4, IDACI decile 5). This larger
population also strengthens the workforce, improving capacity to deliver specialist services
tailored to the area's needs.

Although the proportion of residents aged 65 and over increases slightly (from 18.5% to
19.2%), the authority's larger scale is a key advantage. It enables better commissioning of
services and more effective planning for specialist provision across the entire area.

Health deprivation of decile 3 indicates a clear need for focused intervention. The expanded
authority is better positioned to address this by supporting integrated health improvement
programmes and coordinating with NHS partners for the combined population.

More broadly, the larger population base enables more effective strategic planning. This
supports a coordinated approach to the functional housing market, employment, skills
development, and infrastructure across the combined geography.

47

Page 61



Financial Analysis

The expansion further improves Plymouth's financial sustainability. The increase in tax base
to provides enhanced revenue capacity whilst spreading fixed costs across a larger
population. One-off transition investment of £4.9 million generates over £6 million in annual
benefits, representing excellent value for money. Enhanced financial resilience enables the
authority to withstand demographic shocks, invest in preventative services, and fund strategic
infrastructure necessary to accommodate defence sector growth and housing delivery.

Critical Assessment

This option addresses Plymouth's fundamental constraint by providing geographic space and
financial capacity necessary for sustainable long-term service delivery. The expansion into the
Plymouth Growth Area aligns with functional economic relationships and creates a coherent
authority capable of fulfilling its role as the region's principal city.

An Expanded Torbay

Key Statistics

The proposed expanded Torbay authority would have a population of approx. 220,000 across
an area of 263.2 square kilometres, resulting in a new population density of approx. 835
people per square kilometre. This new authority would be responsible for a council tax base
of 82,356, Band D equivalent properties and a 1,526-kilometre road network.

Compared to the Base Case, this new option represents a significant expansion in scale and
resources for Torbay. The population increases by 80,329 (a 57.7% growth), while the tax
base grows by 133,101 Band D equivalent properties (a 67.2% increase). The authority's land
area expands by 200.3 square kilometres (318%), which reduces the overall population
density by 62%. Compared to the Base Case, this new option represents a significant
expansion in scale and resources for Torbay.

Demographic Profile

Children (0-15 years) 16%

Working age (16-64 years) 57.5%
Older people (65+ years) 26.5%
Home ownership rate 66.8%

The expanded Torbay proposal maintains the area's essential coastal character. The age
profile remains very similar to the Base Case, with only slight improvements in home
ownership and professional employment that reflect the inclusion of the extension areas.

While the older population remains substantial at 26.5%, creating significant demand for adult
social care, the 62% increase in the tax base provides the enhanced financial capacity
required to meet these challenges effectively.

Indices of Deprivation

Domain Decile
Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD)
Income Deprivation
Employment Deprivation
Education, Skills and Training
Health Deprivation and Disability
Crime
Barriers to Housing and Services

oONOOOr~pbO

48

Page 62



Living Environment 6
Income Deprivation Affecting Children (IDACI) 5
Income Deprivation Affecting Older People (IDAOPI) 5

Where 1 equals most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output Areas, 10 equals least deprived 10%

Torbay's deprivation profile improves across most domains. Most notable gains are in health
(decile 3 to 5) and employment (decile 3 to 4). Whilst overall deprivation improves to IMD
decile 5, significant needs remain. Crucially, the 62% tax base increase provides enhanced
financial capacity to address these remaining challenges effectively.

Service Implications

The expanded authority maintains and enhances Torbay's proven service delivery model. The
larger scale provides resources to sustain innovative approaches to integrated care and
children's services whilst building resilience against demographic pressures of an ageing
coastal community.

Financial Analysis

The 62% increase in tax base transforms Torbay's financial sustainability. Enhanced revenue
capacity enables sustained investment in preventative services and integrated care
partnerships without requiring unsustainable efficiency gains. The authority gains financial
resilience necessary to manage demographic challenges of an ageing population whilst
maintaining service quality.

Critical Assessment

This option provides Torbay with the financial capacity and geographic scope necessary to
sustain its proven service delivery model long-term. The expansion addresses the
fundamental mismatch between service demands and available resources in the Base Case.

Expanded Exeter
Key Statistics

The proposed expanded Exeter authority would have a population of approx. 260,000 across
a significantly larger area of 605.6 square kilometres, resulting in a new, much lower
population density of approx. 411 people per square kilometre. The authority would be
responsible for a council tax base of 88,439 Band D equivalent properties and a road network
of 2,351 kilometres.

Compared to the Base Case, this represents a transformation in scale for Exeter. The
population grows by approx. 90%, while the council tax base more than doubles. The most
dramatic change is the geographic expansion of 1,188%, which adds 558.6 square kilometres
to the authority's area.

Demographic Profile

Children (0-15 years) 15.7%
Working age (16-64 years) 63%

Older people (65+ years) 21.4%
Home ownership rate 63.8%
Professional and Managerial occupations 33.8%

An expanded Exeter Unitary Council creates a balanced city-region authority by blending the
young university city core with its surrounding suburban and rural areas. This expansion
broadens the demographic profile to include more families and older residents, all while
maintaining the city's strong professional employment base. A key result of incorporating these

49

Page 63



surrounding communities is a substantial increase in the home ownership rate, which rises
from 57.2% to 63.8%.

Indices of Deprivation
Domain Decile
Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD)
Income Deprivation
Employment Deprivation
Education, Skills and Training
Health Deprivation and Disability
Crime
Barriers to Housing and Services
Living Environment
Income Deprivation Affecting Children (IDACI)
Income Deprivation Affecting Older People (IDAOPI)
Where 1 equals most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output Areas, 10 equals least deprived 10%

ONOITNONO O NN

By incorporating extension areas that complement the university city character, Expanded
Exeter maintains a low deprivation profile.

Service Implications

The expanded authority gains capacity to deliver specialist services at appropriate scale.
Strategic planning capacity for housing growth, employment sites, and transport infrastructure
aligns with city-region needs. The authority can fulfil its role as Devon's capital with services
matching its regional status.

Financial Analysis

The transformation is dramatic. The tax base more than doubles, providing financial resources
commensurate with Exeter's regional capital status. The increase in geographic area provides
access to growth areas and commuter zones that expand the tax base. This creates capacity
for strategic infrastructure investment, coherent transport planning, and effective housing
delivery.

Critical Assessment

This option addresses Exeter's most severe spatial constraint. The expansion provides
planning capacity to accommodate city-region growth whilst maintaining the knowledge-
economy character. The expanded authority gains resources and space to fulfil its role as
Devon's capital without compromising service quality or democratic accountability.

Devon Coast and Countryside

Key Statistics

The proposed Devon Coast and Countryside authority would have a population of
approximately 450,000 distributed across a vast area of 5,486.0 square kilometres. This option
results in a very low population density of approx. 82 people per square kilometre. The new
authority would be responsible for a council tax base of 182,395 Band D equivalent properties.

This new entity is formed from the Baseline Proposal for Devon by transferring its
urban/suburban areas to other authorities. As a result, its population decreases by 231,414 (a
34.0% reduction) and its tax base is reduced by 95,580 Band D equivalent properties (a 34.3%
reduction). While the land area also decreases, the reduction is smaller at 15.9%, making the
new authority more consistently rural with its lower population density.

50

Page 64



Demographic Profile

Children (0-15 years) 15.8%
Working age (16-64 years) 56.0%
Older people (65+ years) 28.3%
Home ownership rate 69.5%

The removal of urban areas from the Base Case creates the Devon Coast and Countryside
authority, which is a more consistently rural entity. The authority now has the oldest population,
with 28.3% of residents aged over 65, and the highest rate of home ownership at 69.5%.

Indices of Deprivation

Domain Decile

Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD)

Income Deprivation

Employment Deprivation

Education, Skills and Training

Health Deprivation and Disability

Crime

Barriers to Housing and Services

Living Environment

Income Deprivation Affecting Children (IDACI)

Income Deprivation Affecting Older People (IDAOPI)
Where 1 equals most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output Areas, 10 equals least deprived 10%

NO P, OCTONOOO OO

The 'Devon Coast and Countryside' authority has a moderate overall deprivation level (IMD
decile 6). This score, however, reflects specific rural challenges, particularly in barriers to
housing and services (decile 5) and the living environment (decile 4).

Service Implications

The focused rural authority can concentrate entirely on distinct challenges of dispersed service
delivery, rural poverty, connectivity, and ageing demographics without managing dense urban
cores with fundamentally different needs.

Financial Analysis

The 34% reduction in population and tax base creates a more coherent rural authority. Whilst
resources decrease, the authority maintains appropriate scale for financial resilience and
specialist services. The more consistently rural character enables focused investment in rural
service delivery models without competing urban priorities.

Critical Assessment
This option achieves appropriate scale for rural governance: large enough for financial

resilience and specialist services but coherent enough for genuine local accountability and
tailored service models.

Options Appraisals (alternative options)

Option Assessment Methodology

51

Page 65



In addition to the detailed appraisal of our preferred option we have undertaken assessment
of options being considered by other Councils in Devon. We have used both qualitative and
quantitative approaches to consider their compliance with Government’s six criteria.

1. Single tier of local government for the area

2. Right size to achieve efficiencies, improve capacity & withstand financial shocks

3. Prioritise the delivery of high quality and sustainable public services to citizens

4. Councils in the area have sought to work together in coming to a view that meets local
needs & is informed by local views

5. Must support devolution

6. Enable stronger community to engagement and deliver genuine opportunity for

neighbourhood empowerment.

The table below provides a summary of the overall option appraisals supporting our preferred
option of the Modified Proposal for four unitaries in which Torbay Council and Plymouth City
Council would continue as unitary authorities on expanded boundaries. A new expanded
Exeter Council would be formed to serve an expanded Exeter area, and the rest of Devon
would be served by a new Devon Coast and Countryside council.

Ol:)rrgnpoods';'f g ‘New Devon’ ‘1-4-5’
(EREITHET GLAE Four unitary Three unitary Three unitary
councils councils councils
Single tier of local government Medium Medium

Right size and financial
resilience

High quality & sustainable public
services

Collaboration and
responsiveness

Supports devolution

Community engagement and
neighbourhood empowerment

In assessing against criteria 1 and 2 we have used a financial appraisal based on the following
indicators:

Criteria 1. Establishing a single tier of local government

Projected population growth to 2040
Council Tax band D average

Council Tax band D maximum

Council Tax base

Council Tax Base per unit of population
Council Tax income per unit of population
Business rates per unit of population

Criteria 2. Efficiency, capacity and withstanding financial shocks

Grant funding per unit of population
Non-earmarked reserves

Non-earmarked reserves per unit of population
Ratio of financing costs to net revenue

52

Page 66



e Total funding/resources 26/7 per head
o Estimated savings from people services (Newton model)
e RAG ranking of potential set up costs

As the Government’s criteria has no weighting, we have scored each option against the six
criteria and Exeter’s principles using the following scale:

e Low — the option meets very few or none of the criteria’s requirements (Red)
e  Medium — the option meets some of the requirements of the criteria (Amber)
e High — the option meets most or all the requirements of the criteria (Green)

In the following sections we set out our options appraisal for local government reorganisation
in Devon, assessing the strengths and weaknesses of the other known proposals for Devon.

53

Page 67



Option Two: Three Unitaries (New Devon)

Key:

Continuing Plymouth Unitary on existing boundaries (Dark Green)
Continuing Torbay Unitary on existing boundaries (Blue)

New unitary for rest of Devon Unitary (Light Green)

National Park and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (Green Hatch)
National Marine Park (Blue Hatch)

The councils in this proposal include:

e Plymouth City Council as a continuing authority
e Torbay Council as a continuing authority
e Anew unitary authority for the rest of Devon.

Populations:?

e Plymouth population: 272,067 (22%)
e Torbay population: 140,126 (11%)
e Devon population: 842,313 (67%)

2Based on ONS Mid-2024 Populations: Source Devon Data Room

Page 68

54



Option Two: Appraisal against six criteria

government

2. Right size and
financial resilience

3. High quality &
sustainable public
services

4. Collaboration and
responsiveness

5. Supports
devolution

6. Community
engagement and
neighbourhood
empowerment

Government Citeria ‘New Devon’ |Rationale
Three unitary
councils
1. Single tier of local Medium Creates three legally recognised unitary

authorities, removing the two-tier

structure. There is extreme size variation (6:1 ratio)
which undermines equality between authorities and
creates an imbalanced foundation for partnership

working

This option creates a significant imbalance across the
hree councils around Council Tax and Business
rates with high variances for the rates per head of
population. This imbalance in population and tax
base sizes raises serious concerns about the overall
size of the Devon unitary. Estimates of 2040
population also suggests imbalance and a very low
growth rate for Plymouth, suggesting financial
challenges due to low Council Tax base. Whilst
slightly better, Torbay’s projected growth is also a
cause for concern on its existing boundary.

Current service delivery models across the existing
unitaries and Devon County would remain. Extreme
size variation makes collaboration and
standardisation very difficult. Urban needs in Exeter
and surrounding areas may become marginalised as

rural issues dominate.

This option is supported by only one

local authority. Devon's dominance risks
marginalising Plymouth and Torbay in partnership
orking. Integrated Care System,

police, fire and devolution arrangements all face
challenges from size imbalances. It is of concern that
Exeter loses its profile as the region’s fastest growing
city.

Creates unequal partners for devolution, with Devon
dominating at 66.8% of population. Plymouth cannot
represent its functional economic area. Exeter
becomes marginalised as it is subsumed in a large
disparate rural unity losing the voice of the city at
strategic level Difficult foundation for balanced
Mayoral Authority or combined authority
arrangements.

Uses established principal authority boundaries with
clear democratic legitimacy. However, Devon's scale
(811,000) risks weakening local

democratic connection. Residents in large rural
wards may feel distant from decision-making.
Residents in Exeter may feel disengaged and
marginalised.

55

Page 69




Criteria 1: Single tier of local government for the area

Overall Score

Devon Plymouth Torbay Range
Population 842,313 272,067 140,126
Projected population growth to 2040 114% 104% 106%
Council Tax band D average 2,405 2,325 2,340
Council Tax band D maximum 2,471 2,325 2,340
Council Tax base 319,445 76,557 49,254
Council Tax Base per unit of population 2.64 3.55 2.84
Council Tax income per unit of population 808 580 726
Business rates per unit of population 193 245 261

This option maintains administrative clarity through established boundaries but does not fully
create the foundation for optimised strategic growth or balanced regional partnership. This
option creates three unitary authorities of significantly different scales, which presents
challenges for balanced regional governance and strategic coordination.

Whilst each authority can deliver core services within their existing boundaries, the
arrangement does not optimise the opportunities for strategic growth, partnership working, or
balanced devolution. The arrangement faces challenges in supporting:

« Strategic growth planning across functional economic areas.
* Balanced partnership working between authorities of different scales.
» Effective coordination of regional priorities.

Extreme imbalance in geographic size (Torbay at 63 sq. km, Plymouth at 80 sq. km and Devon
at 6,627 sq. km) with the new Devon Unitary Council being much larger than housing market
and travel to work areas. The geographic scale of a new Devon Unitary Council creates risks
with a lack of connectivity across the area.

Criteria 2: Right size to achieve efficiencies, improve capacity & withstand financial
shocks.

Devon Plymouth | Torbay
Grant funding per unit of population 270 452 514
Non-earmarked reserves 21.560m | -60.138m | 6.4m
Non-earmarked reserves per unit of 26 -221 46
population
Ratio of financing costs to net revenue 4% 8% 9%
Total funding/resources 26/7 per head 1,277.76 | 1,260.82 1,501.36
Estimated savings from people services £42.16m
(Newton model)

RAG ranking of potential set up costs ] |

This option creates a significant imbalance across the 3 councils around Council Tax and
Business rates with high variances for the rates per head of population. There is also
imbalance in population and tax base sizes raising serious concerns about the overall size of
the Devon unitary. Estimates of 2040 population also suggests imbalance and a very low
growth rate for Plymouth, suggesting financial challenges due to low Council Tax base. Whilst
slightly better, Torbay’s projected growth is also a cause for concern on its existing boundary.

56

Page 70



There is considerable variation in the population distribution. Devon (811,000) would be
considerably larger than both Torbay (140,000) and Plymouth (270,000), which creates
complexity in establishing balanced partnership arrangements and devolution structures that
give each authority appropriate influence in strategic decision-making.

Torbay council would be below 200,000 population, though many authorities across England
successfully deliver services at this scale. Plymouth's existing boundaries limit opportunities
for strategic planning across its wider economic area. Devon would become one of the larger
unitary authorities in England, creating some challenges around maintaining local connection
across its extensive geography.

Maintaining Plymouth council on its existing boundaries means that the council will continue
to struggle with a weak Council Tax base and limited opportunity to grow. Estimates of 2040
population suggests the very low growth rate for Plymouth continues, despite a small
expansion -suggesting financial challenges due to low Council Tax (CT) Base will get worse
over time. This also presents itself in the low CT income per head for Plymouth and large
imbalance across the Unitaries.

There is a large imbalance in reserves and funding per head, placing continuing challenges
on the viability of Plymouth, without any expansion. It also presents a large variance and
imbalance in the rate of grant funding per head. The financial viability assessment for
Plymouth on existing boundaries shows a small, negative gap between funding and
expenditure, when considering the new funding formula.

Viability challenges are demonstrated for Plymouth on its existing boundaries based on the
current financial position and proposing the continuation of this will do nothing to address those
risks in the future.

The Newton model suggests a high level of potential savings is possible. Transition costs are
expected to be high driven by higher redundancy costs but fall only on the ‘New Devon’ Council
as both Plymouth and Torbay would continue unchanged as existing unitaries.

Criteria 3: Prioritise the delivery of high quality & sustainable public services to
citizens.

This option maintains the groundbreaking Integrated Care Organisation which currently
delivers joined up health and social care to the residents of Torbay, including the community
support model which supports residents without the need for statutory services.

All three areas face age-related pressures but with Plymouth and Torbay on sharper
trajectories; this option enables localised support dependant on need. However, Children’s
services and adult social care would not need to be disaggregated in Plymouth or Torbay.

The proposed model preserves accountability for local performance variations, especially in
relation to children’s services, however this model maintains the status quo for children’s
services in Devon losing the opportunity for a reorganisation to provide a much-needed
catalyst for change and a renewed focus on improving children’s services and services for
children and young people with SEND. Enables joint commissioning where appropriate,
including for market-shaping, but preserves clear local accountability for managing costs.

It also preserves visibility of different workforce issues and needs profiles, enabling the
adoption of tailored improvement strategies for Torbay and Plymouth but lumps the very

57

Page 71



different needs of Exeter in with a large rural area where, like now in the two-tier system, they
are more likely to get overlooked.

Services over such a large geography within the new Devon Unitary Council risk continuing
as now with higher costs and wide variation in outcomes between rural and urban areas: new
services delivery models will have to be carefully and sensitively created, otherwise they would
not be relatable to need or place. It will continue to be, as now, extremely difficult to undertake
effective co-production across a bigger geographic area, making it more difficult to have
effective service design.

The impact of combining authorities with and without Housing Revenue Accounts and very
different homeless need profiles into a new Devon Unitary Council would need to be
considered carefully, amalgamating the capital city of Exeter into a massive rural unitary will
inevitably dimmish attention of the very specific needs of its younger population.

Criteria 4: Councils in the area have sought to work together in coming to a view that
meets local needs and is informed by local views

Within Devon, there have been good examples of the district councils working positively with
the County Council, for example during the pandemic. On LGR, councils across Devon,
including Plymouth and Torbay have made good efforts to work together, agreeing a share
data in a Hub hosted by Plymouth City Council, agreeing some joint questions as part of
residents surveys to allow comparisons and agreeing to support the development of a Mayoral
Strategic Authority (MSA) and agreeing the distribution of the funds allocated by MHCLG to
local government re-organisation.

It has however not proven possible for all councils to contribute to the development of all the
proposals going forward although various councils have coalesced around particular
proposals. Each council has kept the other councils informed on developments in their
proposals particularly in respect of the geography contained within proposals.

New Devon Unitary Council blends urban, rural and coastal communities which could reflect
the pan-Devon sense of belonging; however this scale of place is not reflective of the insights
from the extensive public engagement work undertaken across Devon and in particular in
Exeter and the surrounding area where residents identify Exeter as “their place”: the city is
where people look to for work, access to services, education, employment and leisure.

Plymouth and Torbay retain their strong urban identity, including the identities of Britain’s
Ocean City and the English Riviera. Exeter’s vital position as the capital city of Devon and one
of the fastest growing cities in the UK, is demoted in this proposal in which it is described as
a “town”. This raises significant concerns about the future potential of the city being
eviscerated in this option. Plymouth and Torbay’s standalone status aligns with existing
arrangements in health and policing and reflects Plymouth’s distinct Travel to Work Area yet,
concerning this option ignores Exeter’s even more extensive and distinct Travel to Work Area
as significant enough to preserve its unique city identify.

A new Devon Unitary Council does not fit well with people’s local sense of identity and their
connection to their local town and community. A Devon-wide unitary includes multiple Travel
to Work Areas, which may dilute alignment with specific commuting patterns.

Criteria 5: Must support devolution

All existing Leaders of the Devon Authorities are in favour of pursuing a MSA for the whole of
Devon. It would be relatively straightforward for the existing DTCCA to be transferred into a

58

Page 72



Devon Combined Authority with the new Devon Unitary Council and Torbay Council already
being constituent members.

This option would enable such an Authority on a whole county footprint, including Plymouth
City Council. Torbay would maintain its voice, but Exeter will totally lose its strategic voice
which seems anomalous. There would be considerable inequality of population size ratios
between constituent authorities of any new Mayoral Strategic Authority.

If the Devon Combined Authority wishes to remain as a Foundation Strategic Authority and
Plymouth City Council does not wish to join (as per the option with the CCA’s Constitution),
Plymouth City Council would become a “devolution island”.

Criteria 6: Enable stronger community to engagement & deliver genuine opportunity
for neighbourhood empowerment

In this option Torbay Council and Plymouth Councils’ existing networks of Community
Partnerships remain they could form the basis of Neighbourhood Area committees to better
represent local voices.

Communities in Plymouth and Torbay would maintain closer access to local councillors and
the democratic process these compact unitaries could sustain local voice and alignment with
residents’ needs. However, there is considerable potential for democratic deficit in the new
Devon Unitary Council due to large geographic spread, with the potential to struggle to deliver
meaningful local engagement over very diverse areas due to scale. It will be more difficult for
communities to have access to their local councillors and the democratic process in a new
Devon Unitary Council due to poor connectivity in a large geographic area. The new Devon
Unitary Council would be further away from communities and would need to mitigate this
through new model of neighbourhood governance.

Complexity and scale within the new Devon Council risk weakening neighbourhood
empowerment and accountability which is of particular concern in Exeter which is currently
unparished and may also lose its voice entirely within the context of a mega scale rural unitary
area where urban issues will be lost (as now in the two-tier system) as they compete on an
uneven playing field with rural constituencies.

Communities in Exeter, Paignton and Torquay are not currently served by parish councils
which could lead to disparity of representation and services: consideration will need to be
given to Community Governance Reviews

Impact on Plymouth

Key Statistics

Plymouth is a densely populated urban authority. It accommodates 270,000 people within a
compact 79.9 km? area, resulting in a population density of 3,311 people per square kilometre.
The council's responsibilities include managing a 1,046 km road network and a tax base of
76,557 Band D equivalent properties.

Demographic Profile

Children (0-15 years) 17.4%
Working age (16-64 years) 64.1%
Older people (65+ years) 18.5%
Home ownership rate 57.7%
Social Rented 20.5%
Private Rented 21.8%

59

Page 73



Compared to Torbay and Devon, Plymouth has a younger age profile, with a higher proportion
of both children (17.4%) and working-age residents (64.1%). The city's lower home ownership
rate of 57.7% is characteristic of its urban housing market. At 3,311 people per square
kilometre, Plymouth has the highest population density of any authority considered in this
option, a direct result of its compact geography being constrained by administrative
boundaries. This small area of just 79.9 km? constrains spatial planning capacity and limits the
tax base available to fund regional strategic development.

Indices of Deprivation

Domain Decile

Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD)

Income Deprivation

Employment Deprivation

Education, Skills and Training

Health Deprivation and Disability

Crime

Barriers to Housing and Services

Living Environment

Income Deprivation Affecting Children (IDACI)

Income Deprivation Affecting Older People (IDAOPI)
Where 1 equals most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output Areas, 10 equals least deprived

10%

arO0TOOOWORAO A

Plymouth experiences significant overall deprivation (IMD decile 4), with acute challenges in
both health (decile 3) and children's income deprivation (decile 4). In fact, its level of health
deprivation is the most severe of any authority considered in this option. Addressing these
needs effectively is made more difficult by the city's limited tax base and constrained
population.

Service Implications

The city's compact urban geography enables efficient service delivery through established
structures and consistent models. While the authority operates with known capacity, its small
scale is a major disadvantage, and the limited tax base severely restricts investment. This lack
of resources is compounded by substantial service pressures, which are driven by high levels
of health deprivation (decile 3) and child poverty (IDACI decile 4). The city's scale also makes
it difficult to maintain a full specialist workforce, further limiting its ability to respond. These
pressures are felt across numerous key services. Children's services face high demand from
child poverty, and adult social care must manage health deprivation alongside an ageing
population. At the same time, SEND provision operates at a constrained scale, public health
teams must address deep health inequalities, and housing services are forced to manage
intense urban pressures. Ultimately, the city's small geographic area of 79.9 km? prevents
strategic growth and leaves it vulnerable to demographic and financial shocks.

Financial Analysis

Plymouth's financial position is characterised by structural constraints. The tax base of 76,557
Band D equivalent properties serving 270,000 people must support higher than average
service demands. The combination of health deprivation, child poverty, and compact urban
geography creates service cost pressures that cannot be offset through economies of scale.
The constrained boundary prevents access to growth areas that could expand the tax base,
creating long-term sustainability concerns.

Critical Assessment
60

Page 74



The small geographic area of 79.9 square kilometres prevents strategic growth and leaves
Plymouth vulnerable to demographic and financial shocks. This option fails to address the
city's fundamental requirement for expansion into its functional economic area.

Impact on Torbay

Key Statistics

Torbay is a compact authority with a population of approx. 139,000 living within a 62.9 km?
area, giving it a high population density of 2,215 people per square kilometre. The council is
responsible for a 651 km road network and a tax base of 49,254 Band D equivalent properties.

Demographic Profile

Children (0-15 years) 16.0%
Working age (16-64 years) 57.3%
Older people (65+ years) 26.7%
Home ownership rate 64.0%
Social Rented 19.8%
Private Rented 16.2%

Torbay has the oldest age profile in this option, with over a quarter of its population (26.7%)
aged 65 or over. This creates significant demand for adult social care and health services, a
challenge compounded by a smaller working-age population (57.3%) that constrains
economic capacity. The area's character as a coastal resort is also reflected in its moderate
home ownership rate of 64.0%. The authority's population density of 2,215 people per km? is
second only to Plymouth's. This density, combined with its small geographic footprint of 62.9
km2—the smallest in this arrangement—severely limits its capacity for growth and strategic
development. These limitations are intensified by the natural constraints of the bay's
geography.

Indices of Deprivation
Domain Decile

Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD)

Income Deprivation

Employment Deprivation

Education, Skills and Training

Health Deprivation and Disability

Crime

Barriers to Housing and Services

Living Environment

Income Deprivation Affecting Children (IDACI)

Income Deprivation Affecting Older People (IDAOPI)
Where 1 equals most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output Areas, 10 equals least deprived

10%

AR OOOOWRARWRAD

Despite being the smallest authority in this option, with a population of approx. 139, 000 and
a tax base of 49,254 Band D equivalent properties, Torbay manages disproportionately high
service demands. These demands are driven by a challenging demographic profile. The
authority has the oldest population (26.7% over 65) and faces significant deprivation related
to health (decile 3), employment (decile 3), and poverty affecting both children (IDACI decile
4) and older people (IDAOPI decile 4).

Service Implications

61

Page 75



Torbay demonstrates remarkable capability, delivering high-quality outcomes through
innovative strategies and strong partnerships. Key strengths include:

e Children's Services rated Good (only one in Devon area)
o Integrated partnership with NHS for health and social care
e Proactive approach to improving employment, health, and wellbeing

Financial Analysis

Torbay's financial position reflects the challenges of operating at small scale with high service
needs. The tax base of 49,254 Band D equivalent properties serving 139,000 people must
support significant adult social care demands from an ageing population (26.7% over 65),
alongside health and employment deprivation both at decile 3. The compact 62.9 square
kilometre geography prevents expansion that could increase the tax base, whilst the coastal
setting constrains development options.

Critical Assessment

Whilst Torbay delivers high-quality outcomes through innovation, the authority's small scale
creates long-term financial pressures. Sustainable delivery will require either enhanced
resources or continued exceptional efficiency gains that may not be maintainable.

Impact on Devon

Key Statistics

Devon would be a large rural authority encompassing approximately 811,000 people across
6,569 km?, creating a population density of 124 people per square kilometre. The council

would manage an extensive 24,556 km road network serving numerous towns, villages, and
dispersed rural communities across Devon's varied landscape.

Demographic Profile

Children (0-15 years) 15.80%
Working age (16-64 years) 58.4%
Older people (65+ years) 25.8%
Home ownership rate 68.2%
Social rented 11.5%
Private rented 19.0%

New Devon has a settled rural population with over a quarter of residents aged 65 or over.
The working-age population supports both resident population and diverse rural economy
spanning agriculture, tourism, market towns, and coastal communities. At 124 people per
square kilometre, the population is much more dispersed than urban authorities.
Communities range from substantial market towns to small villages and isolated farms.

Indices of Deprivation

Domain Decile
Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD)
Income Deprivation
Employment Deprivation
Education, Skills and Training
Health Deprivation and Disability
Crime
Barriers to Housing and Services

DO NO O OO,

62

Page 76



Living Environment 5
Income Deprivation Affecting Children (IDACI) 6

Income Deprivation Affecting Older People (IDAOPI) 6
Where 1 equals most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output Areas, 10 equals least deprived 10%

New Devon encompasses both Exeter (with low deprivation at IMD decile 7) and rural areas
(with moderate deprivation at IMD decile 6). This creates an authority with mixed deprivation
profile where Exeter's urban needs and rural Devon's dispersed service challenges must be
managed within a single structure.

Service Implications

The primary challenge is managing fundamentally different service models within one
authority. Exeter requires dense urban service delivery for a young, knowledge-economy
population, whilst rural areas require dispersed delivery models for an ageing population
across vast geography. The scale at 811,658 population may compromise local connection
and democratic accountability.

Financial Analysis

New Devon would be financially sustainable at this scale, with good capacity for strategic
investment and service development. However, the key consideration is ensuring that
extensive geography and dispersed population do not create inefficiencies that offset benefits
of scale, and that partnership arrangements with Plymouth and Torbay enable balanced
regional governance.

Critical Assessment

This option creates a fundamental democratic deficit by submerging Exeter (Devon's capital
and fastest-growing city) within a vast authority where the capital becomes a minority voice.
Exeter's distinct growth challenges and urban service needs become subordinated to rural
priorities, hindering the city's development and regional role.

There is considerable variation in the population distribution. Devon (811,000) would be
considerably larger than both Torbay (140,000) and Plymouth (270,000), which creates

complexity in establishing balanced partnership arrangements and devolution structures that
give each authority appropriate influence in strategic decision-making.

63

Page 77



Option Three: Three Unitaries (District Grouping 1-4-5)

Key:

Continuing Plymouth Unitary on existing boundaries (Dark Green)

New Unitary for South Devon based on existing district boundaries (Blue)

New Unitary for North and East Devon based on existing boundaries (Light Green)
National Park and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (Green Hatch)

National Marine Park (Blue Hatch)

The councils in this proposal include:

e Plymouth City Council as a continuing authority

¢ A new South Devon Unitary covering the areas of Torbay, South Hams, West Devon
and Teignbridge

e A new North and East Devon Unitary covering the areas of Exeter, Torridge, Mid
Devon, North Devon and East Devon.

Populations?®:
e Plymouth population: 272,067 (22%)

e Southern population: 429,745 (34%)
¢ North & Eastern population: 552,694 (44%)

3 Based on ONS Mid-2024 Populations Data: Source Devon Data Room
64

Page 78



Option Three: Appraisal against six criteria

Government Citeria

‘1-4-5’ Rationale
Three
unitary
councils

1. Single tier of local
government

Medium |[Creates three legally recognised unitary
authorities, removing the two-tier

structure. There is extreme size variation (6:1 ratio)
which undermines equality between authorities and
creates an imbalanced foundation for partnership
working

2. Right size and
financial resilience

This option creates an imbalance across the three
councils around Council Tax and Business rates. The
2040 population estimates suggest imbalance and a
very low growth rate for Plymouth, suggesting financial
challenges due to low Council Tax base. Plymouth
remains at a non-resilient size, and this failure is
magnified by the creation of hugely advantaged
neighbours with tax bases 117% and 160% or larger
than Plymouth.

3. High quality &
sustainable public
services

Il service sustainability challenges

of the Base Case remain for Plymouth, while the model
allocates vastly superior resources to new, more affluent
districts. Torbay would be likely to lose is pioneering
partnership with the NHS. Extreme size variation makes
collaboration and standardisation very difficult. The
urban needs in Exeter and surrounding areas and
Torbay may become marginalised as rural issues
dominate

4. Collaboration and
responsiveness

This option is supported by 7 of the 8 districts authorities
in Devon. Boundaries slice through existing urban
extensions such as those surrounding Exeter and
Plymouth, paying no regarding to the functional
relationships between

communities in proximity. Torbay loses its identity and it
is of concern that Exeter loses its profile as the region’s
astest growing city

5. Supports
devolution

This model would create an even more imbalanced
partnership for devolution than the New Devon option.
Plymouth would be a minor partner, dwarfed by the two
new super-districts creating unequal partners for
devolution. Exeter becomes marginalised as it is
subsumed in a rural authority losing the voice of the city
at strategic level as does Torbay.

6. Community
engagement and
neighbourhood
empowerment

Uses established principal authority boundaries with
clear democratic legitimacy. However, the creation of
vast, artificial districts with no established structures or
relationships" would

undamentally undermine meaningful

community identity across the

ider region. Residents in Exeter and Torbay may feel
disengaged and marginalised

65

Page 79



Criteria 1: Single tier of local government for the area

Overall Score

Plymouth South North East | Range
Population 272,067 429,745 552,694
Projected population growth to 2040 104% 111% 115%
Council Tax band D average 2,359 2,400 2,396
Council Tax band D maximum 2,392 2,471 2,433
Council Tax base 82,499 162,440 200,317
Council Tax Base per unit of population 3.30 2.65 2.76
Council Tax income per unit of population 599 822 772
Business rates per unit of population 243 218 191

The model adheres to the principle of creating single-tier authorities however it presents
significant governance challenges as it fails to meet Government criteria It creates unitary
authorities based solely on old administrative boundaries, failing to reflect current functional
economic relationships. The result is an imbalanced structure that favours rural areas,
undermines Plymouth and Exeter's ability to fulfil their role as the region's principal city, and
leaves Plymouth as the smallest and most constrained authority.

Whilst the population numbers of the proposed new unitary councils, together with the
population of Plymouth, are close to the guiding principle of councils having a population of
500,000 or more: this option is fundamentally flawed as it fails to meet Government criteria. It
creates artificial unitary authorities based solely on old boundaries, lacking any coherent
rationale. The result is an imbalanced structure that favours rural areas, undermines Exeter ‘s
ability to fulfil its role as the regions capital city, and leaves Plymouth as the smallest and most
constrained authority.

The evidence for this imbalance is stark. Plymouth remains unchanged with a population of
270,000 and an area of just 79.9 square kilometres. In contrast, the proposed South would
have a population of approx. 420,000 across an area 35 times larger, while North East Council
would have approx. 530,000 people across an area that is 48 times the size of Plymouth.

Whilst the areas covered by the proposed North-East Unitary Council already look to Exeter
for work, education, public services and leisure, the geography is predominantly rural. This will
impair the ability of the council to focus sufficiently on the specific needs of the city. Effectively
this model will maintain the status quo of the existing two-tier system, rural issues will
dominate, and this has the p